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Some pictures in this publication were shot before COVID-19

Mission
Why are we here?

Empowering Learners for Work & Life 
Co-creating with Industry for Growth & Sustainability 

Vision
What do we  aspire to be?

The Innovative Polytechnic
A Nexus of Future-ready People, Learners & Industry

Strategic goals
How do we get there?

Maximising Learner Potential
Engaging & Developing Our People 

Co-creating Value with Industry
Living Our Innovative & Enterprising Culture

Values
What do we believe in?

Can-Do Spirit
Borderless Teamwork 

Development Orientation 
Innovation & Enterprise 

Nurturing & Caring Culture
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As we pen the report to capture the period 
up to 31 Mar 2021, we look back on having 

had to grapple with the challenges of a varied 
and constantly changing environment with 
COVID-19 looming large across all sectors.

The start of our Financial Year also saw 
the beginning of Singapore’s Circuit Breaker 
on 07 Apr 2020. The significant disruptions 
required ingenuity and innovation from staff 
to still achieve good Teaching & Learning (T&L) 
results and keep the NYP flag flying high. 

We are glad to report that NYP responded 
dynamically. With every challenge, we 
knuckled down and found the inherent 
opportunity. We accelerated digitalisation and 
colleagues lived our Innovative & Enterprising 
culture by consistently finding ways to do 
things better.

MAXIMISING LEARNER POTENTIAL
The Circuit Breaker meant that learners had 
to transition to full Home-Based Learning or 
HBL. Our lecturers responded by upskilling 
on the go, producing good learning content 
in the online format. Library and T&L teams 
worked with colleagues to help find and 
curate resources for the learners. Colleagues 
experimented with tools like Kahoot and 
Mentimeter to make online lessons still 
engaging and meaningful.

We used technology, such as our 
internally-developed EXSERLAN (Extensible 
Seamless Real-time Learning Analytics) – an 
interactive real-time teaching and learning 
platform that automatically tabulates and 
analyses learners’ interaction – to give 
lecturers an overview of the learners’ grasp 
of topics taught. The real-time analytics was 
critical during HBL. We also used the ALERT 
(Assessing Learning in Real Time) system, 
which enabled learners to reflect on their 
learning at the end of each lesson or topic. This 
helped lecturers address learning gaps on the 
fly rather than wait for results and feedback at 
the end of the module. 

Staff also quickly swung into action to 

Mr Tan Tong Hai
Chairman

MESSAGE FROM CHAIRMAN 
AND PRINCIPAL & CEO ensure that no learner was disadvantaged with 

the lack of a laptop or Internet. A total of 266 
staff laptops that were due to be replaced were 
reconfigured in record time so that they could 
be urgently loaned to learners.

Student welfare was not forgotten, as 
we quickly covered aspects like financial 
assistance and emotional support for learners 
who were stressed by the changes.

LIVING OUR INNOVATIVE 
& ENTERPRISING CULTURE 
COVID-19 meant that major changes had to 
take place.

Colleagues rallied and in a spectacular 
display of what NYP can do when called upon, 
the team rehauled the campus entryways and 
set up areas so that temperature checks could 
be done for the entire population. We were 
able to procure much needed supplies and 
monitoring machines, at a time where these 
were scant and hard to come by in the market. 
We found innovative solutions to sanitise lifts, 
railings and worked out how to implement 
new and quickly changing safe management 
measures. 

Most of our events also had to 
quickly transition, within mere weeks, to 
virtual formats.

For instance, Freshmen Orientation in 
mid-April 2020 moved to what was then a 
completely new technology to NYP – Zoom 
conferencing. Colleagues went the extra 
mile to create user guides on how to access 

WE ALSO PUSHED 
THROUGH THE DEVELOP-
MENT WORK FOR OUR 
REVOLUTIONARY NYP 
PROFESSIONAL COMPE-
TENCY MODEL (PCM). 
THE GROUND-BREAKING 

Ms Jeanne Liew 
Principal & CEO, Nanyang Polytechnic

WE ALSO PUSHED THROUGH THE DEVELOPMENT WORK FOR OUR REVOLUTIONARY 
NYP PROFESSIONAL COMPETENCY MODEL (PCM). THE GROUND-BREAKING NEW 

MODEL FUNDAMENTALLY CHANGES POLY EDUCATION AS WE KNOW IT. THE 
CURRICULUM IS REBUILT BRICK BY BRICK – BECAUSE RATHER THAN SUBJECTS, WE PULL 

TOGETHER RELEVANT BITS IN THE CONTEXT OF A WORK TASK.
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the student portal, understand timetables, 
and even shot a walking-tour video of the 
campus to help our First Yearers who were 
understandably finding it hard to adjust. 

We also seized opportunities. The Early 
Admissions Exercise in June 2020 saw NYP 
doing our first large-scale online seminar for 
prospective parents and students. We were 
able to reach a sizeable audience with more 
than 1,400 devices logging in.

Building upon the learnings, we then 
mounted an ambitious Joint Admissions 
Exercise campaign and delivered a virtual and 
interactive Open House experience where 
prospective students could tour the campus 
and explore facilities, sit in for online talks, 
and sign up for personalised sessions with 
lecturers. It was very well received with more 
than 16,000 visitors, generating over 23,000 
sessions over the three-day Open House 
period. 

We also pushed through the development 
work for our revolutionary NYP Professional 
Competency Model (PCM). This fundamentally 
changes poly education as we know it. The 
curriculum is rebuilt brick by brick – because 
rather than teaching subjects in silos, we pull 
together relevant bits of knowledge and skills, 
in the context of a work task, to teach learners 
how they all synthesise.

The model calls for NYP to work closely 
with the industry to co-build the modules. 

The School of Information Technology 
launched NYP’s first Diploma under the 
PCM model in June 2020. We are happy to 
report that industry giants like Google Cloud, 
Microsoft, Oracle Academy and SAS have 
come in, giving us their proprietary teaching 
materials and access to their technologies. 
With their co-development and support, our 
learners will be graduating with additional 
industry certifications alongside their 
diplomas.

NYP CURATED AND ROLLED OUT NEARLY 200 
COURSES TO TRAIN SOME 12,000 TRAINEES 

EMPLOYED IN COMPANIES WITHIN THE ARTS & 
CULTURE, TOURISM, F&B AND RETAIL SECTORS. 

CO-CREATING VALUE WITH INDUSTRY
NYP was part of the government’s response 
to help sectors badly hit by the COVID-19 
pandemic.

Our Centre for Industry and Lifelong 
Learning or CIL3 pushed out even more 
training programmes to help affected 
individuals either deepen their domain 
expertise or develop new and in-demand skills 
in adjacent industries. We also worked with 
key agencies including SkillsFuture Singapore 
(SSG) and Workforce Singapore (WSG) to roll 
out various initiatives to support individuals 
and businesses impacted by COVID-19. 

Through the Enhanced Training Support 
Package, NYP curated and rolled out nearly 
200 courses to train some 12,000 trainees 
employed in companies within the Arts & 
Culture, Tourism, F&B and Retail sectors. 

Under the SGUnited Skills Upgrading 
Programme, nearly 30 programmes were 
curated for four key sectors, with more than 
2,300 learners signed up or enrolled as at end-
March 2021. 

Our Continuing Education and Training 
(CET) Centres also ramped up their course 
offerings during this period: Beyond helping 
hawkers build up capabilities to run a 
successful hawker stall, the Asian Culinary 
Institute Singapore (NYP-ACI) stepped up their 
efforts and helped hawkers kickstart their 
digitalisation journey. 

The National Centre of Excellence for 
Workplace Learning (NACE), led by NYP, set up 
the NACE Steering Committee in June 2020. 
The Steering Committee endeavours to help 
engage and guide even more companies to 
adopt Workplace Learning and level up their 
Workplace Learning capabilities. 

Our third CET Centre – the Singapore 
Institute of Retail Studies (NYP-SIRS), partnered 
the School of Design to develop a Specialist 
Diploma in Digital Content Creation for 
E-Commerce. This new diploma, under the 
Work-Study model, equips digital marketing 
specialists from any industry with the required 
skills for them to create and deliver engaging 
content across their business’ multiple 
digital channels. NYP-SIRS also rolled out live 
streaming and e-Commerce classes, to equip 
learners with relevant and in-demand skills. 

ENGAGING & DEVELOPING OUR PEOPLE
Notwithstanding the challenging year, our 
staff continued to deliver above and beyond 

their academic responsibilities. 
At the Ministry of Education’s Innergy 

Awards 2020, which recognises innovative 
contributions within the Ministry family, 
NYP took home two Golds, one Silver, three 
Bronzes and one Commendation Award. Out 
of the four winners for the polytechnic and ITE 
category, two NYP colleagues received MOE’s 
Outstanding Innovator Award 2020. 

Our staff also walked the talk for lifelong 
learning, with four lecturers being recognised 
at the Public Sector Transformation Awards 
2020 with the Exemplary SkillsFuture Award, 
and another lecturer winning the Dare 
to Dream award for his ingenious use of 
technology to better the lives of visually-
impaired individuals. 

These achievements are testament to the 
team’s commitment to staying relevant, amid 
the volatile external environment.

EMERGING TRIUMPHANT
In the Academic Year 2020, NYP had a total 
student enrolment of 13,968 across 41 full-
time Pre-Employment Training (PET) diploma 
courses and Common Entry Programmes. In 
the same period, 4,490 students graduated 
from their full-time studies, bringing the 
total number of diploma graduates at NYP to 
105,808 since our inception in 1992. Despite 
the challenging job market, 87 per cent of NYP 
graduates who are in the labour force found 
employment within six months of graduation. 

In the CET space, lifelong learning 
remained a priority, in addition to our efforts 
to help reskill the workforce affected by 
COVID-19. In Financial Year 2020, we have 
further diversified our suite of training 
programmes. We launched more than 200 new 
courses ranging from Specialist and Advanced 
Diplomas to Work-Study Programmes and 
short courses, with more than 78,000 training 
places offered and notably clocking close to 
two million training hours for adult learners.

We conclude this report with a deep 
sense of thankfulness – for all members in the 
NYP community. Whether members of the 
board, staff, our learners or partners from the 
industry, we have collectively pulled together 
and NYP’s flag remains flying high. We have 
achieved much and yet our community 
remains safe thanks to the continued efforts 
and contributions from all parties.

We thank you sincerely for riding with us 
through the turbulence of the year. We are 
proud to be part of this community. 
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Executive Director

Super Sea Cable Networks

Mr Tay Yong Seng
Partner

Allen & Gledhill LLP

Mr Jackson Tan
Creative Director
BLACK Design

Deputy Chairman
Ms Jessica Tan

Director, Group Commercial 
Raffles Medical Group

Dr Lim Boon Huat
Professor, Design & Specialised 

Businesses Cluster
Singapore Institute of Technology

Mr Tham Sai Choy
Chartered Accountant

Ms Jeanne Liew
Principal & CEO

Nanyang Polytechnic

Mr Daniel Ng Joo-Then
Member, Board of Advisors 

Kemin Industries (Asia)

Ms Lavinia Low
Director, Manpower Planning and Strategy 

Ministry of Health

Mr Mohamad Farid Mohd Nor
President Director & CEO

PT Farid MN Asia Mandiri
Chief Strategy Officer 
Future Commerce

Mr Amit Malhotra
Regional Lead – Emerging Markets;

Content Sales & Distribution 
South APAC & Middle East 

The Walt Disney Company (Southeast Asia)

Mr Shee Tse Koon
Group Executive & Country Head 

DBS Singapore

Assoc Prof Jeanette Ng
Associate Professor

Director (Office of the Provost),
Design & Specialised Businesses Cluster

Singapore Institute of Technology

COL Chan Ching Hao
Commander, Air Combat Command

Republic of Singapore Air Force

Mr Tan Lin Teck
Director, Future Economy Planning Office 

Ministry of Trade and Industry

Dr Eugene Fidelis Soh
Chief Executive Officer

Tan Tock Seng Hospital & Central Health

Mr Musa Fazal
Group Director, Planning Group 

SkillsFuture Singapore
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COMMITTEES
(as at 31 Mar 2021)

CHAIRMAN
Mr Shee Tse Koon
Group Executive & 
Country Head
DBS Singapore

CHAIRMAN 
Mr Tan Tong Hai
Executive Director
Super Sea Cable Networks

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
Dr Lim Boon Huat
Professor, Design & Specialised 
Businesses Cluster
Singapore Institute of 
Technology

MEMBERS
Dr Eugene Fidelis Soh
Chief Executive Officer
Tan Tock Seng Hospital  
& Central Health

Mr Amit Malhotra
Regional Lead – Emerging Markets; 
Content Sales & Distribution 
South APAC & Middle East
The Walt Disney Company 
(Southeast Asia) 

Ms Jeanne Liew
Principal & CEO
Nanyang Polytechnic

ADMINISTRATION COMMITTEE AUDIT COMMITTEE

CHAIRMAN 
Mr Tham Sai Choy
Chartered Accountant

MEMBERS
Assoc Prof Jeanette Ng
Associate Professor
Director (Office of the Provost), Design 
& Specialised Businesses Cluster
Singapore Institute of Technology

COL Chan Ching Hao
Commander, Air Combat Command
Republic of Singapore Air Force

Mr Tan Lin Teck
Director, Future Economy 
Planning Office
Ministry of Trade and Industry

NYP EDUCATION FUND 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

MEMBERS
Mr Chai Kuek Heng
Director, Student Care & Guidance
Nanyang Polytechnic

Ms Denise Leong
Registrar
Nanyang Polytechnic

Ms Sharon Lhu
Deputy Registrar
Nanyang Polytechnic

CHAIRMAN 
Ms Jeanne Liew
Principal & CEO
Nanyang Polytechnic

DEPUTY CHAIRMAN
Mr Musa Fazal
Group Director, Planning Group
SkillsFuture Singapore

TREASURER
Ms Su Kally
Director, Finance
Nanyang Polytechnic

MEMBERS
Mr Tay Yong Seng
Partner
Allen & Gledhill LLP

Mr Mohamad Farid Mohd Nor
President Director & CEO 
PT Farid MN Asia Mandiri
Chief Strategy Officer
Future Commerce 

Ms Jeanne Liew
Principal & CEO
Nanyang Polytechnic

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

APPOINTED MEMBERS

Ms Loh Chuu Yi
Deputy Principal (Academic)

Mr Dennis Ang
Senior Director (Innovation & Infrastructure)

Mr Tan Jek Min
Senior Director (Industry & Lifelong Learning)

Mr Lai Poh Hing
Senior Director (Organisational Excellence)

SENATE
(as at 31 Mar 2021)

CHAIRMAN

Ms Jeanne Liew
Principal & CEO

HEADS OF SCHOOL

Ms Esther Ho
Director
School of Business Management

Dr Joel Lee
Director
School of Chemical & Life Sciences

Mr Albert Lim
Director
School of Design

Mr Lee Youn Kay
Director
School of Engineering

ELECTED MEMBERS

Mr Azhar Abdul Salam
Senior Manager
School of Business Management

Ms Tai Lee Kian
Manager
School of Chemical & Life Sciences

Mr Christopher Tan
Deputy Manager
School of Design

Dr Kwek Siew Wee
Assistant Director (Academic)
School of Engineering 

Ms Charlene Ang
Director
Asian Culinary Institute Singapore

Mr Melvyn Suan
Director 
Centre for Industry & Lifelong Learning

Mr Wong Poh Seng
Director
Centre for Teaching & Learning Development

Mr Anand Krishnasamy
Director
Foundation and General Studies

Mr Koh Swee Guan
Director
Library

Dr Phua Chee Teck
Director
National Centre of Excellence for 
Workplace Learning 

Mr Daniel Liu
Director
Quality and Planning Office

Ms Megan Ong
Director
Singapore Institute of Retail Studies

Dr Bryan Chua
Director
School of Health & 
Social Sciences 

Mr Daniel Wee
Director
School of 
Information Technology

Mr Daniel Tan
Director
School of Interactive & 
Digital Media

Ms Cecilia Tang
Senior Manager
School of Health & Social Sciences

Ms Tan Soon Keow
Deputy Director (Academic Planning 
& Development)
School of Information Technology

Mr Victor Wee
Manager
School of Interactive & Digital Media

SECRETARY CUM APPOINTED MEMBER

Ms Denise Leong
Registrar
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ORGANISATION 
CHART
(as at 31 Mar 2021)

Internal 
Audit

Mr Chiang 
Kah Kee

Chairman, 
BOG

Mr Tan 
Tong Hai

Foundation & 
General Studies

Mr Anand 
Krishnasamy

Communication 
& Outreach

Ms Natalie Soh

Computer & 
Network Centre

Ms Law Chin Choo

Procurement & 
General Admin

Mr Cher 
Thon Jiang

School of Design
Mr Albert Lim

Principal 
& CEO

Ms Jeanne 
Liew

Centre for 
Teaching 

& Learning 
Development

Mr Wong 
Poh Seng

Service Quality 
& QSM

Mr Cher 
Thon Jiang

Innovation & 
Enterprise Office

Mr Yang Tien

Student Care & 
Guidance
Mr Chai 

Kuek Heng

School of 
Engineering

Mr Lee Youn Kay

Deputy Principal
(Academic)

Ms Loh Chuu Yi

Senior Director
(Organisational 

Excellence)
Mr Lai Poh Hing

Senior Director
(Industry & Lifelong 

Learning)
Mr Tan Jek Min

Senior Director
(Innovation & 
Infrastructure)

Mr Dennis Ang

Finance
Ms Su Kally

School of 
Business 

Management
Ms Esther Ho

Library
Mr Koh 

Swee Guan

Student 
Development & 

Alumni Relations
Ms Lina Chong

School of 
Interactive & 
Digital Media

Mr Daniel Tan

Registrar’s Office
Ms Denise 

Leong

Quality & 
Planning Office
Mr Daniel Liu

Estates 
Management

Mr Ang Eng Nam

Human Resource
Mr Julias Wikarta

School of 
Chemical & 

Life Sciences
Dr Joel Lee

School of 
Health & Social 

Sciences
Dr Bryan Chua

School of 
Information 
Technology

Mr Daniel Wee

EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT
(as at 31 Mar 2021)

Ms Jeanne Liew
Principal & CEO

Ms Loh Chuu Yi
Dy Principal 
(Academic)

Mr Dennis Ang
Senior Director 
(Innovation & Infrastructure)

Mr Tan Jek Min
Senior Director 
(Industry & 
Lifelong Learning)

Mr Lai Poh Hing
Senior Director 
(Organisational Excellence)

Ms Natalie Soh
Director
Communication & Outreach

Mr Melvyn Suan
Director
Centre for Industry 
& Lifelong Learning

Ms Law Chin Choo
Director
Computer & Network Centre

Mr Wong Poh Seng
Director
Centre for Teaching & 
Learning Development

Mr Ang Eng Nam
Director
Estates Management

Mr Anand s/o Krishnasamy
Director
Foundation & General Studies

Ms Su Kally
Director
Finance

Mr Julias Wikarta
Director
Human Resource

Mr Yang Tien
Director
Innovation & Enterprise Office

Mr Koh Swee Guan
Director
Library

SCHOOLS

Ms Esther Ho
Director
School of Business Management

Dr Joel Lee
Director
School of Chemical & Life Sciences

Mr Albert Lim
Director
School of Design

Mr Lee Youn Kay
Director
School of Engineering

CORPORATE DEPARTMENT

Mr Cher Thon Jiang
Director
Procurement & 
General Administration 
and Service Quality  
Quality Service Manager

Ms Denise Leong
Registrar
Registrar’s Office

Mr Daniel Liu
Director
Quality & Planning Office

Mr Chai Kuek Heng
Director
Student Care & Guidance

Ms Lina Chong
Director
Student Development 
& Alumni Relations

Dr Bryan Chua
Director
School of Health &  
Social Sciences

Mr Daniel Tan
Director
School of Interactive &  
Digital Media

Mr Daniel Wee
Director
School of Information 
Technology

CET CENTRES

Ms Charlene Ang
Director
Asian Culinary 
Institute Singapore

Dr Phua Chee Teck
Director
National Centre of Excellence 
for Workplace Learning

Ms Megan Ong
Director
Singapore Institute of  
Retail Studies

Centre for 
Industry & 

Lifelong Learning
Mr Melvyn 

Suan

Singapore 
Institute of 

Retail Studies
Ms Megan Ong

Asian Culinary 
Institute 

Singapore
Ms Charlene 

Ang

College of 
Lifelong Learning

National 
Centre of 

Excellence for 
Workplace Learning

Dr Phua 
Chee Teck
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ADVISORY COMMITTEES
(as at 31 Mar 2021)

  

MEMBERS
Mr Lim Kok Guan
Group Chief Financial Officer
NTUC FairPrice Co-operative

Mr Rostam Umar 
Chief, Strategy Group
Sport Singapore
 
Prof Gary Pan
Professor of Accounting 
(Education)
Associate Dean, Undergraduate 
Admissions and Student 
Development
Academic Director, SMU-X
School of Accountancy
Singapore Management 
University

Ms Grace Yang
Senior Director – HR 
& Business Solutions
Suntec Singapore
Convention & Exhibition Centre

Ms Leena Singarajah
Global Strategy Advisor
World Obstacle

Mr Robin Goh
Group Chief Brand &  
Comms Officer
Singapore Post

Ms Bernadette Wong
Director, Corporate Affairs & HR
Creative Eateries

APPLIED SCIENCE

CHAIRMAN
Mr Daniel Ng Joo-Then
Member, Board of Advisors
Kemin Industries (Asia) 

MEMBERS
Dr Prasad Kanneganti
Vice President/Site Leader
Tessa Therapeutics 

Assoc Prof Lita Chew Sui Tjien
Group Director, Allied Health
Singapore Health Services

Assoc Prof Susanna Leong
Cluster Director, Chemical 
Engineering and Food Technology
Singapore Institute of Technology 

Mr Ng Tze Yik
Operations Director, SEA
Sherwin-Williams

Ms Bernice Tay
Director (Food Manufacturing)
Enterprise Singapore

Mr Daniel Teo
Deputy Chief Executive Officer
Pokka International

Mr Leslie Phua Teck Heng, 
PPA(G) 
[until 30 Sep 2020]
Program Director
Singapore Food Agency

Asst Prof Joanne 
Chan Sheot Harn 
[from 01 Oct 2020]
Centre Director
National Centre for Food Science 
Singapore Food Agency

Dr Low Mei Yin
Regional Innovation 
Manager, APAC
Givaudan Singapore 

Dr Victor Wong
Senior Principal Scientist 
(Manufacturing Science  
& Technology)
Lonza Biologics Tuas

Mr Bong Hean Tar
Development Engineering 
Manager
Singapore Refining Company

Ms Joanne Chio Siew Ling 
[until 31 Oct 2020]
Head, Clinical Trials
Haematology-Oncology 
Research Group
National University Hospital

Dr Joel Lee
Director, School of Chemical & 
Life Sciences
Nanyang Polytechnic

Ms Jamie Lim
CEO
Scanteak
 
Mr Nikhil Dwarakanath
Head – Analytics
Grab

Mr Koh Cheng Chua
Managing Director & Head, 
Group Credit, Commercial Credit
United Overseas Bank

Mr Tony Lai
Principal (Design) – Centre for Design, 
Insights and Innovation
Great Eastern Life Assurance Co

Mr Barry Lee  
Partner
KPMG LLP

Prof Low Buen Sin  
Associate Dean – China Programmes
Professor of Finance, Nanyang 
Business School
Nanyang Technological University

Ms Esther Ho
Director, School of 
Business Management
Nanyang Polytechnic

BUSINESS MANAGEMENT

CHAIRMAN
Mr Shee Tse Koon
Group Executive & Country Head
DBS Singapore

DESIGN   

CHAIRMAN
Mr Jackson Tan
Creative Director 
BLACK Design 

MEMBERS
Mr Dharmali Kusumadi
Senior Vice President, Project & 
Business Development
Banyan Tree Group

Ms Emily Ong
Deputy Executive Director
DesignSingapore Council

Mr Lyndon Craig
Head Of Design – Asia Pacific, 
Middle East & Africa
Electrolux

Assoc Prof Peer M Sathikh
Associate Chair (Academic), 
School of Art, Design & Media 
Nanyang Technological 
University

Mr Liang Lit How
Director , Human Resource
ONG&ONG Group

Mr Peter How
Director, Design 
CPG Consultants

Mr Albert Lim
Director, School of Design
Nanyang Polytechnic

ENGINEERING   

CHAIRMAN
Dr Lim Boon Huat
Professor, Design & Specialised Businesses Cluster
Singapore Institute of Technology

MEMBERS
Mr Chang Chin Nam 
Senior Vice-President and Head, 
Accounts Technology Hardware 
& Equipment
Economic Development Board

Mr Tan Cheng Teck 
Executive Vice President, 
Production
Senoko Energy

Dr Ricky Souw 
Chief Executive Officer
Sanwa Plastic Industry 

Prof Andrew Y C Nee
Emeritus Professor, Department of 
Mechanical Engineering
National University of Singapore

Mr Volker Schmid
Head, Asia Pacific
Festo Didactic

Mr Tan Yuh Woei
Regional Director, APAC
FireEye

Dr Yoon Kok Thean

Mr Premarajan Ponnambath
Managing Director
Pixel Automation 

Mr Eugene Yeo
Managing Director
StaffOnDemand 

Assoc Prof Lee Kwee Hiong
Associate Professor 
Singapore Institute 
of Technology

Assoc Prof Ong Soh Khim
Associate Professor, Department 
of Mechanical Engineering
National University of Singapore

Mr Lawrence Liew
Director, AI Industry Innovation
AI Singapore

Dr Alexandra Roos
Head of Centre of Innovation & 
Technology, AMERA (Asia, Middle 
East, Russia & Africa)
Essilor

Dr Ahmad Magad
Executive Director 
Management Development 
Institute of Singapore

Mr Chandran Nair
Chief Executive Officer
AEM Holdings

Mr Tan Chee Keong
Business Advisor
Semiconductor Industry Veteran

Mr Joseph Chong
VP Aircraft Engineering,  
Singapore Technologies
ST Engineering

Mr Hor Kwok Hong
General Manager
Baker-Hughes, a General  
Electric company

Mr Lee Youn Kay, PPA(P)
Director, School of Engineering
Nanyang Polytechnic
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ADVISORY COMMITTEES
(as at 31 Mar 2021)

INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY   

CHAIRMAN
Ms Jessica Tan
Director, Group Commercial
Raffles Medical Group

HEALTH & SOCIAL SCIENCES

CHAIRMAN
Adj Prof Lee Chien Earn, PPA(P), PBS
Deputy Group Chief Executive Officer (Regional Health System)
SingHealth 
Chairman of Planning Committee
Ministry of Health

MEMBERS
Mr Zee Yoong Kang, 
PPA(G), PBS
Chief Executive Officer
Health Promotion Board

Mr Foo Hee Jug, PPA(P), PBS
Deputy Chief Executive
National University Health 
System Group 
Chief Executive Officer
Ng Teng Fong General Hospital

Ms Lavinia Low
Director, Manpower Planning 
& Strategy
Ministry of Health

Ms Paulin Koh, PPA(G), PBS
Chief Nursing Officer
Ministry of Health

Dr Chng Chai Kiat
Chief Dental Officer, Office of the 
Director of Medical Services
Ministry of Health

Mr Anjan Ghosh  
Director, Sector Manpower & 
Organisation Development
Human Capital & Organisation 
Development Group
National Council of Social Service

Assoc Prof Chong Phui Nah, 
PPA(G), PBS
Chief Executive Officer
National Healthcare 
Group Polyclinics

Assoc Prof Koh Dow Rhoon, 
PPA(G), PBS
Department of Physiology, Yong 
Loo Lin School of Medicine
National University of Singapore

Ms Jacqueline De Roza
Nurse Clinician – Advanced 
Practice Nurse
National Healthcare Group – 
Geylang Polyclinic

Dr Loh Yik Hin
Chief Executive Officer
St Andrew’s Community Hospital

Prof Pang Weng Sun,
PPA(P), PBS
Deputy Group Chief Executive 
Officer (Population Health)
National Healthcare Group 
Yishun Community Hospital

Dr Bryan Chua
Director, School of Health 
& Social Sciences  
Nanyang Polytechnic

Ms Bella Tan
Programme Director (Nursing), 
School of Health & Social Sciences 
Nanyang Polytechnic

MEMBERS
Mr Andrew Chow
Executive Vice President
Head Strategy, Urban Solutions
ST Engineering

Mr Khor Check Kim
Founder
KCK Consulting

Prof Thambipillai Srikanthan
Executive Director,  Cyber  
Security Research 
Professor, School of Computer Science 
& Engineering
Nanyang Technological University

Mr P Ramakrishna
CEO
CIO Academy

Mr Simon Dale
Managing Director, Southeast Asia 
Adobe

Mr Harish Pillay
Global Head, Community Architecture 
& Leadership
Red Hat Asia Pacific 

Mr Alphonsus Pang
Director, Strategy and  
Corporate Planning
Singapore Institute of Management

Dr Colin Quek
Deputy Director (Informatics), 
Rehabilitation Research Institute  
of Singapore 
Nanyang Technological University

Mr Joshua Soh
Chief Operating Officer
Nogle

Mr Francis Fong

Ms Natasha Kwan
General Manager, Enterprise 
Business Unit
IBM Singapore

Mr Darren Teo
Deputy Chief Executive 
CSIT

Ms Tay Bee Kheng
Managing Director
Cisco Systems (USA) Singapore

Mr Randy Goh
Managing Director
SAS Institute 

Mr Koh Kai Wei
Associate Software Engineer
Govtech

Mr Aow Jia Rong
Co-Founder & Director
Noggin

Mr Dennis Ang
Director, School of  
Information Technology
Nanyang Polytechnic

INTERACTIVE & DIGITAL MEDIA    

CHAIRMAN
Mr Amit Malhotra
Regional Lead – Emerging Markets; 
Content Sales & Distribution, South APAC & Middle East, 
The Walt Disney Company (Southeast Asia) 

MEMBERS
Mr Luke Hetherington 
Executive-in-Charge,
Industrial Light & Magic 
Singapore Studio

Mr Richard Thomas
Creative Director
One Animation

Mr Ng Teow Khoon
President, Asia Pacific
Side Effects Asia Pacific

Mr Raymond Wong
Director
Koei Tecmo Singapore 

Mr Seng Choon Meng
Chief Executive Officer 
Scrawl Studios 

Mr Barry See
Head, Production Resource 
MediaCorp TV Singapore 

Mr Matthew Thorpe
Director of Operations 
Ubisoft Singapore & 
Ubisoft Philippines

Mr Joachim Ng
Director, Media & 
Ecosystem Development
Infocomm Media 
Development Authority

Mr David Ng
Founder & CEO
GoGame 

Ms Gina Sim
Vice President, Innovation Group
DBS

Mr Joshua Tan 
Director 
CraveFX

Mr Daniel Tan
Director, School of Interactive 
& Digital Media
Nanyang Polytechnic
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Total training places for CET

CCAs across Arts & Culture, Sports & 
Adventure, Leadership & Character 
Development and Community 
Service & Environment

Staff strength

of our graduates who are in the 
labour force found employment 
within six months of graduation 
in 2020

FACTS & FIGURES

Total student enrolment

Students graduated from 
full-time diploma courses

Full-time diploma courses and 
common entry programmes

Continuing Education & Training 
Courses were offered by NYP. 
This includes Advanced and 
Specialist Diplomas, Work-Study 
Programmes and short courses.

78,515

84

1,423

>85%

13,968

4,490

41

>600
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR LEARNERS

Held from 28 Sep 2020 to 09 Oct 2020, WorldSkills 
Singapore saw more than 250 competitors from 
the Institute of Technical Education (ITE), all five of 
Singapore’s polytechnics, Singapore Institute of 
Technology (SIT) and Nanyang Technological University 
(NTU) competing in 26 skills areas. 

NYP’s competitors took home the lion’s share of 

medals. Our nine golds came from a range of skills areas 
— including 3D Digital Game Art, Aircraft Maintenance, 
Cloud Computing, IT Network Systems Administration, 
Visual Merchandising and Web Technologies. It was also 
the first time NYP recorded a gold in the hotly contested 
Cyber Security arena.  We also won six silvers, nine 
bronzes and seven Medallions of Excellence. 

BUILDON ASEAN 2020 
COMPETITION

A combined team of School of Information 
Technology students and graduates beat out 
over 120 regional teams and clinched top 
honours at a Hackathon tourney organised by 
Amazon Web Services (AWS) and the National 
University of Singapore (NUS). 

The team created a real-time Visitor 
Management System using AWS cloud 
technology for Farrer Park Hospital and put on 
an impressive performance in the ASEAN Final 
round to bring back the champion trophy.

The winning team, 
comprising Diploma 
in IT students Ryan 
Lucas Ho and Eugene 
Foo, Diploma in 
Cybersecurity & Digital 
Forensics student Elijah 
Chia, and School of IT 
Alumni Milton Sim and 
Li Kangli

WORLDSKILLS SINGAPORE 2020 COMPETITION

MINISTERIAL VISIT TO NYP

A Ministerial contingent from MOE visited NYP in 
November 2020.  

Minister, Mr Lawrence Wong, Second Minister, Dr 
Mohamad Maliki bin Osman, as well as both Ministers 
of State, Ms Gan Siow Huang and Ms Sun Xueling, were 
joined by members of the Government Parliamentary 
Committee (GPC) for Education – Ms Denise Phua and Mr 
Shawn Huang.

The MOE delegation and GPC members met with NYP’s 
senior management and chairman of our board. They also 
had a dialogue session with students from the School 
of Engineering and the School of Interactive & Digital 
Media. NYP then hosted the visitors at NYP’s student-run 
restaurant, L’Rez, for lunch. 

A uniquely Singaporean menu was conceptualised 
and prepared by Final Year students from our Diploma in 
Food & Beverage Business. It included homemade otah, 
mycoprotein satay, nasi lemak, popiah, and laksa pasta, all 
paired with handcrafted mocktails. 

In 2020, students from the School of Design (SDN) joined their peers 
– virtually – from the Future University Hakodate (Japan), Shibaura 
Institute of Technology (Japan), and Sangmyung University (Korea) 
at the International Summer Design workshop. Held since 2013, 
this annual event encourages the sharing of design ideas among 
students from different countries. 

The theme for 2020’s workshop – PANDEMIC – aptly summed up 
the challenges of the year. The students explored how design could 
play a role in making the world a healthier place.

INTERNATIONAL SUMMER DESIGN WORKSHOP GOES VIRTUAL 
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR LEARNERS

A team comprising students from the 
Diploma in Accountancy & Finance 
emerged champion in the Polytechnic 
category at the SMU Tax Case Challenge 
2020. The team competed against 

students from other polytechnics, and 
was required to evaluate a tax case 
and present possible implications and 
recommendations to the judges within 
the stipulated time frame.

MENTAL WELLNESS CURRICULUM  
FOR ALL YEAR ONE STUDENTS

In Aug 2020, the Student Care & Guidance Department introduced 
a mental wellness curriculum as part of the existing “Fitness for Life” 
module for all Year One students. The curriculum helped students 
learn more about mental health, coping strategies and encouraged 
them to seek help — and was especially timely as COVID-19 had 
meant long periods away from campus.

EMERGING TOP AT THE SEMBCORP-EMA ENERGY 
CHALLENGE 2020

Two student teams from the School of Engineering’s Diploma in 
Electrical Engineering with Eco-Design emerged Grand Champion 
and Overall Runner-Up in the University, Polytechnic & ITE category 
at the Energy Challenge competition. They beat 40 teams. The virtual 
competition, jointly organised by Sembcorp and the Energy Market 
Authority,  is meant to inspire engineering students to pursue careers in 
the power and energy sector. 

The format was a strategy-based scenario-planning simulation 
game, where they had to manage a power eco-system, maintaining 
profitability while providing reliable service — yet being aware of 
environmental sustainability.

STUDENTS WIN 
TAX CHALLENGE

ILLUSTRATING THE LIGHT TO NIGHT 
FESTIVAL 2021 — ART SKINS ON 
MONUMENTS  

The School of Interactive & Digital Media collaborated 
with the National Gallery Singapore for the Light to 
Night Festival 2021. 

Year Two Diploma in Motion Graphics students 
worked alongside Artist Mentors from Lab B Studio 
and Phunk Studio, and three of the best artworks were 
projected on the façade of the Victoria Theatre in late 
Jan 2021. 

NEW OPPORTUNITIES 
WITH NICKELODEON  

The School of Interactive & Digital Media had a series 
of projects with American entertainment company 
Nickelodeon. 

Not only did the company commission the 
production of two animated short films (which are to be 
used on Nickelodeon’s digital platform and in its digital 
game booths) —  four of the best Motion Graphics 
idents were broadcast on the company’s Southeast 
Asian channel and social media.

 Further, students were given a chance to design 
a premium for Nickelodeon’s upcoming shows. The 
company will bring the winning concept to life, 
manufacture the design and make it an actual giveaway 
for their audiences.

STUDENTS WON GLOBAL 
COMPETITION WITH UNIQUELY 
SINGAPORE FOOD PRODUCT

Students from the School of Chemical & Life Sciences 
took home the “Best Special-Edition Product” at the 
World Food Innovation Awards 2021 with their Ondeh-
Ondeh Dysphagia Ice Cream, beating out competition 
from leading dairy companies and confectionery brands 
in the UK and China. The sweet treat was a nod to the 

local dessert featuring the flavours of pandan 
leaves and coconut, and was scientifically 

tested to be safe for patients who cannot 
swallow food properly due to age or 
illness.

The annual awards ceremony which 
recognises excellence and innovation 
across the global food industry saw 

more than 270 entries from 22 countries 
competing in 26 different categories. 
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR PEOPLE

Four veteran lecturers were recognised at the Public 
Sector Transformation Awards 2020 with the Exemplary 
SkillsFuture Award for their passion in lifelong learning. 

The School of IT’s Senior Specialist (Data Analytics) 
and Senior Lecturer Dr Fwa Hua Leong was lauded for his 
consistent research in Artificial Intelligence to meet the 
increasing demand for the design and delivery of education 
courses in Artificial Intelligence (AI) and data analytics.  

Also, from the same School is Senior Specialist (Cyber 
Security & Cloud Computing) and Senior Lecturer Mr Mar 
Kheng Kok. His continuous efforts to refresh his skillsets 
have put him at the forefront of technology covering 
cybersecurity and AI. Today, he is a key driver for NYP’s 
industry and R&D projects. 

Two other lecturers were commended for being 

advocates of lifelong learning, having successfully 
transited into new skill areas: the School of Engineering’s 
(SEG) Senior Lecturer Dr Hannah Gardner moved from 
nanotechnology to digital engineering, and the School 
of Chemical & Life Sciences Senior Specialist (Human 
Nutrition) and Senior Lecturer Dr Tay Mia Eng pivoted 
from chemical engineering to nutrition. Both have 
become key enablers for industry projects.  

SEG’s Lead Specialist (Computational Analysis) Dr 
Kong Wai Ming was also awarded the Dare to Do Award 
for developing bold and innovative navigation systems 
that help the visually impaired travel safely from home 
to their workplace or school. His systems have also been 
implemented within our campus, helping our visually 
impaired students navigate. 

RECOGNITION FOR LIFELONG LEARNING 

The winners 
(clockwise, from 
top left}: Dr Hannah 
Gardner, Mr Mar 
Kheng Kok, Dr Tay 
Mia Eng, Dr Fwa Hua 
Leong and Dr Kong 
Wai Ming. 

Our NYP team won a total of two 
Golds, one Silver, three Bronzes and 
one Commendation Award at MOE’s 
Innergy Awards 2020 in July. 

One Gold Award was given to the 
NYP-StarHub Centre for Connected 
Care (C3), a live teaching facility 
showcasing an integrated elderly and 
dementia-friendly living environment 
with applicable technology, solutions 
and telehealth services. The centre 
– the first of its kind globally – gives 
learners a sense of how technology can 
help these patients, and is meant to 
inspire collaboration among students, 
partners and government agencies. 

The other Gold Award went to 
our Student Life Infosystem, which 
tracks students’ NYP-wide activities, 
including progression in CCAs, their 
participation rates, and the training 
they have gotten.  

The system digitalised multiple 
processes, reducing paperwork so that 
man hours are better utlised in more 
valuable tasks like coaching and guiding learners on their 
learning journeys.

Finally, two staff members were awarded the MOE 
Outstanding Innovator Award (OIA) for their contributions 
in applied research and innovation: Senior Specialist 

& Senior Lecturer Dr Henry Leung from the School of 
Chemical & Life Sciences, and Senior Specialist & Senior 
Lecturer Dr Wang Yadong from the School of Engineering. 

NYP snagged two out of the four awards in this 
category open to polytechnics and ITE.

RECOGNITION FOR CONTRIBUTION 
BY THE SINGAPORE 
ACCREDITATION COUNCIL 

Mr Richard Khaw, Deputy Director at the School 
of Chemical & Life Sciences, was conferred the 
Assessor Award (Distinguished) in 2020 for his 
contributions as an ISO 17025 Assessor, an active 
member of the Chemical & Biological Testing 
Technical Committee and the Proficiency 
Testing Technical Committee. This award is the 
highest accolade and recognition given by the 
Singapore Accreditation Council.

Above: Using state-of-
the-art telemedicine to 
augment the delivery of 
care to patients.

Left: Mobile beds 
feature in the innovative 
C3 facility.

ACHIEVEMENTS 
AT MOE INNERGY 
AWARDS 2020 
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR PARTNERS

NYP’s Singapore Institute of Retail Studies (NYP-SIRS) partnered 
Workforce Singapore (WSG) to launch the Job Redesign 1.0 
project. It helped over 20 companies and redesigned employees’ 
job roles to improve their skills profiles and identify key areas for 
staff to further develop skills in. 

NYP’s Asian Culinary Institute Singapore (NYP-ACI) was 
appointed by Workforce Singapore as programme manager for 
the Job Redesign Place-and-Train Programme to transform food 
services companies and businesses into manpower-lean formats 
by leveraging technology and digitalisation. The programme 
reached more than 60 companies and 880 employees. 

HAWKER 
DEVELOPMENT 
PROGRAMME (HDP)

NYP’s Asian Culinary 
Institute Singapore  
(NYP-ACI) enhanced the 
Hawker Development 
Programme (HDP) to help 
new entrants assimilate into 
the hawker trade. 

The enhanced 
programme sees would-
be hawkers taking up 
training in cooking, 
hygiene and business 
skills before being paired 
with seasoned hawkers in 
2-month apprenticeship 
programmes. Then, 
participants may use 
the NEA incubator stall 
programme to bid for a stall 
and mentors are on hand 
to help with teething issues 
for the first three months.

The HDP also has help 
for existing hawkers. They 
can tap on the programme 
to learn about digital 
payment options, and how 
to use social media to best 
boost their businesses.

JOB REDESIGN TO HELP F&B 
AND RETAIL COMPANIES COPE 
WITH CHALLENGING TIMES

RESKILLING MICE, ATTRACTIONS, 
AND TOUR AND TRAVEL SECTORS 

The School of Business Management, Workforce Singapore (WSG) and Singapore 
Tourism Board (STB) developed and delivered the Digital Marketing Place-
and-Train Programme for the tourism and MICE industry. Helping participants 
seeking to learn new skills and prepare for new roles, the programme featured 
courses in digital marketing, content curation and web analytics. 

NYP also worked closely with STB to roll out a series of short courses for the 
Tourism sector which was badly hit by COVID-19. These were customised to job 
roles such as Travel Consultants, Product & Experience Development Executives 
and Coordination and Reservations Executives, to deepen their skills and 
prepare them to take on new roles in the massively disrupted industry.

BUILDING SKILLS
IN OUR 
HEALTHCARE 
WORKERS 

As part of Singapore’s 
response to the coronavirus 
pandemic, the Ministry of 
Health (MOH) appointed 
the School of Health & 
Social Sciences to conduct 
courses for existing 
healthcare workers and 
volunteers to do swab tests, 
administer vaccines and 
to properly don protective 
equipment or PPE.

Multiple runs of these 
courses were conducted, 
and there have been more 
than 800  trained.

The Ministry of Health (MOH) and 
the Singapore Nursing Board (SNB) 
appointed NYP to help nurses 

REFRESHING EX-NURSES WITH UP-TO-DATE SKILLS

coming back to practice. The Back to 
Nursing Practice Course (Emergency 
Response) for Registered Nurses was 

held in March 2020 – a crucial time as 
Singapore was ramping up resources 
to battle COVID-19.
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR PARTNERS

Researchers from the School of Chemical & Life 
Sciences partnered T-Pride, an arm of Temasek 
Holdings, to measure the efficacy of antimicrobial 
disinfectants. These disinfectants, when applied 
as a coating on surfaces, prevent the growth of 
microbes and improve the cleanliness of public 
areas with high-volume touchpoints such as lift 
buttons and hospital wards. 

The School of Engineering signed Project and Industry 
based Specialisation Modules (PRISM) MOUs with seven 
industry partners in March and April 2021. The new 
partnerships were formed with Backdoor Consultancy, 
CFB Bots, Electronics & Engineering, SwiftX Solutions, 
Syntellect TeleSystems, Fortune Travel and Maven Project. 

The PRISM initiative infuses industry-based project 
development into the curriculum of Year Three students 
in the Diploma in Infocomm & Media Engineering. 
Through this, students are exposed to in-depth industry 
partnerships and gain access to a wider range of industry 
tools. They will be given real-world project specifications 
and industry-level briefings at the onset of the project 
phase, and will be assessed on their progress, deliverables 
and presentations during their projects’ milestones.

IMPROVING PATIENT CONSULTATIONS WITH 
SMART GLASSES

The School of Information Technology partnered GovTech in 
April 2020 to develop Smart Glasses that use facial recognition 
to help during home consults.

The spectacles, connected to a mobile app, cloud platform 
and portal, can help nurses call up a patient’s – whom has 
been identified and verified by the glasses – information 
quickly. The glasses also function as a way for doctors to 
video-conference with the nurses and the patient onsite. 

TESTING OF ANTIMICROBIAL 
DISINFECTANTS TO SUPPORT 
COVID-19 MEASURES

INCREASING INDUSTRY EXPOSURE 
WITH PRISM

FOSTERING 
STRONGER 
RELATIONS WITH 
NON-LOCAL 
RESIDENTS

To improve the 
understanding of local 
culture among Permanent 
Residents and non-
residents, the School of 
Information Technology 
collaborated with the 
People’s Association (PA) to 
launch an online channel 
to promote racial harmony 
and social cohesion. 
With physical heartland 
tours being restricted 
due to COVID-19 Safe 
Management Measures, 
the project is an alternate 
resource to provide 
information on cultural 
norms and practices in 
bite-sized formats. 

CERTIFIED FOR 3D PRINTING FOR 
AEROSPACE COMPONENTS 

NYP is the first institution in Singapore to be certified by 
the European Union Aviation Safety Agency (EASA) to print 
specific 3D aerospace components for real aircraft. The 
School of Engineering (SEG) worked with ST Engineering 
Aerospace on this new and emerging area for parts 
manufacturing on demand. With 3D printing, complex 
light-weight structures can be produced to replace 
aerospace components, and these translate to savings in 
fuel consumption and carbon emissions for aircraft. 

The National Centre of Workplace Excellence (NACE) Steering Committee was set up on  
11 June 2020. Comprising 12 individuals from nine agencies, the NACE Steering Committee 
has the remit to direct the overall strategy for Workplace Learning initiatives in Singapore.

SETUP OF NACE STEERING COMMITTEE 
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HIGHLIGHTS
OUR CULTURE

The NYP Professional Competency Model (PCM) was 
officially launched on 09 Jun 2020. A revolutionary 
teaching and learning model, the PCM moves away 
from the usual subject-based approach to one where a 
learner learns skills in the context of actual work tasks. 
For example, instead of taking math as a subject for 
three years, a learner instead learns how to apply a 
specific bit of math (statistics) for analysing data. At the 
same time, lecturers come in and co-teach him how 
to derive the data from smart sensors, an engineering 
concept, and deliver reports to help management see 
the big picture analysis (communication).   

The PCM involves an overhaul of NYP’s Teaching & 
Learning (T&L) practices and curricula.  A key feature – 
it is co-built by industry partners. 

Our diploma launched under the PCM – the 
Diploma in Business Intelligence & Analytics – saw 
strong support from key industry partners: Google 
Cloud, Microsoft, Oracle Academy, and SAS. They will 
co-train learners and co-develop curriculum.  Learners 
will emerge with additional certifications alongside 
their diploma.

During the launch, then-Minister for Education Mr Ong 
Ye Kung lauded the PCM as “a bold and unprecedented 
approach to course design and delivery”. 

LAUNCH OF NYP PROFESSIONAL 
COMPETENCY MODEL

I&E BOOTCAMP AND OVERSEAS EDUCATIONAL 
TRIP EXCHANGE
 
An Innovation & Enterprise (I&E) Bootcamp cum virtual Overseas 
Educational Trip (OET) organised by the School of Health and 
Social Sciences saw staff and students from various NYP schools 
interacting with students from the International University of Health 
and Welfare (Japan), Seirei Christopher University (Japan), Otemae 
University (Japan), Federation University (Australia), University of 
Dundee (UK) and Samuel Merritt University (USA). 

The synchronous online and onsite event, facilitated by NYP staff, 
got students to use Design Thinking to help Indonesian families in a 
village in Bintan, Indonesia access clean water and sanitation.

ENHANCED EFFORTS FOR 
I&E DEVELOPMENT
 
As part of NYP’s I&E efforts, FINCODA, a tool to gauge 
I&E attributes, was adopted. All Year One students 
in AY2020 have completed the self-evaluation. 
They will take the survey again at the end of the 
three years at NYP and see for themselves how they 
have progressed on I&E competencies with NYP 
intervention. 

The I&E Assessment Rubrics, which provides a 
comprehensive guide to all staff and learners on I&E 
Learners Development, was also created. It has been 
approved by our Senate. DEEPENING I&E CAPABILITIES 

THROUGH A HACKATHON
 
Twenty-three NYP teams and a team of students 
from four different institutes in Thailand competed 
in a virtual hackathon organised by the Innovation 
& Enterprise Office and NYP’s Singapore Institute of 
Retail Studies (NYP-SIRS), to develop solutions for 
nine organisations. This was part of the Short-Term 
Attachment (STA) programme for students to gain 
cross-cultural perspectives. 

The goal of the hackathon was to help the 
pandemic-hit retail industry transform their 
businesses through digitalisation and new retail 
hacks exploration. Student teams stepped up to 
the challenge of solving real life business problems 
and explored ways to help local companies 
transform their businesses. These local companies 
have committed to work with the students to 
co-develop the ideas and proposed solutions, for 
implementation post-COVID-19. 
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NYP EDUCATION FUND
IPC Registration Number: IPC000540
UEN: T08CC3008E
Charity Registration Date: 01 April 2003
Registered Address: 180 Ang Mo Kio Avenue 8 Singapore 569830

The Nanyang Polytechnic (NYP) Education Fund was 
set up in 2003 to meet the needs of the Polytechnic. 
The Fund is managed by a management committee 
appointed by NYP’s Board of Governors and seeks to 
ensure that the usage of donations given by generous 
donors is aligned with the objectives of the Fund. 
In April 2019, the Fund was granted a renewal of its 
status as an Institution of Public Character (IPC) by the 
Commissioner of Charities of Singapore.

OBJECTIVES
The objectives of the NYP Education Fund are to:
• Provide financial assistance to needy and deserving 

students; 
• Recognise the achievements of outstanding 

Polytechnic students and graduates; 
• Support student development and enrichment 

programmes; 
• Support research and development programmes;
• Support staff and capability development 

programmes so as to keep abreast of changing 
technologies in industry and commerce; 

• Support NYP campus development programmes;
• Provide education and training facilities and 

equipment; and 
• Promote NYP as an institution of distinction for 

polytechnic education in Singapore.

NYP SCHOLARSHIPS 
PROGRAMME RECIPIENTS

FINANCIAL STATUS
The Fund stood at $33.90m as at 31 March 2021. 

FUNDING SOURCES
The Fund continually receives donations and 
generous support from individuals, organisations and 
foundations.

MAJOR GIFT DONORS ($100,000 & ABOVE)
•  GIC 
•  Mustard Seed Foundation
•  NTUC Income Insurance Co-operative 
•  Sayang Sayang Fund 

CORPORATE DONORS FOR NYP INDUSTRY 
SCHOLARSHIPS
•  3M Asia Pacific 
•  A&C Atelier 
•  Brother International Singapore  
•  Cheers Holdings (2004) 
•  Courts (Singapore) 
• Essilor Amera 
• Essilor R&D Centre Singapore
• H.A.M. Creations 
• Intage Singapore 
• Mediacorp 
• Mediacorp TV Singapore 
• SICK Products Center Asia   

CORPORATE DONORS FOR OTHER 
SCHOLARSHIPS/BURSARIES/AWARDS 
($10,000 & ABOVE)
• Ngee Ann Kongsi
•  MUFG Fund Services (Singapore)

ACTIVITIES
A total of 2,764 scholarships, bursaries, subsidies and 
graduation awards were awarded during the year, 
totalling 2.45m.

POLICIES
The Reserves Policy was established to safeguard the 
Fund’s stability and is pegged at not more than one year 
of disbursements. In the policy regarding the Conflict of 
Interest Disclosure, the approach is to avoid situations 
that may cause any potential conflict of interest. In 
general, all staff are required to declare any close 
relationships with students in any selection of student 
awards. Procurement practices also require staff to 
declare non-vested interest before selecting students or 
vendors. Full details of the Fund’s financial standing and 
policies can be found in the NYP Financial Report or on 
the NYP website.

MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
• Chairman 

Ms Jeanne Liew 
Principal & CEO, NYP

•  Deputy Chairman 
Mr Musa Fazal 
Member, Board of Governors, NYP 
Group Director, Planning Group, 

 SkillsFuture Singapore
• Treasurer 

Ms Su Kally 
Director, Finance, NYP

• Member 
Mr Chai Kuek Heng 
Director, Student Care & Guidance, NYP 

• Member 
Ms Denise Leong 
Registrar, NYP

• Member 
Ms Sharon Lhu 
Deputy Registrar, NYP

Two meetings were convened in FY2020, on 21 October 
2020 and 2 March 2021, with full attendance from the 
Management Committee.
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ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 March 2021

STATEMENT BY BOARD OF GOVERNORS

In our opinion,
A. the accompanying financial statements set out 

on pages 33 to 76 of Nanyang Polytechnic (the 
“Polytechnic”) and its subsidiary (collectively the 
“Group”) are drawn up so as to present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Group 
and Polytechnic as at 31 March 2021, and the financial 
performance and changes in equity of the Group 
and Polytechnic and cash flows of the Group for the 
year then ended in accordance with the provisions 
of the Public Sector (Governance) Act 2018, Act 
5 of 2018 (the “Public Sector (Governance) Act”), 
Nanyang Polytechnic Act, Chapter 191A (the “Act”), 
the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Charities 
Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting 
Standards;

B. the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys 
and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the 
Polytechnic during the year are, in all material respects, 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the 
requirements of any other written law applicable 
to moneys of or managed by the Polytechnic; and 

C. proper accounting and other records have been kept, 
including records of all assets of the Polytechnic and 
of the subsidiary whether purchased, donated or 
otherwise.

 
 
 

On behalf of the board of governors:

.......................................................
Tan Tong Hai
Chairman

.......................................................
Jeanne Liew
Principal & CEO

30 June 2021
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NANYANG POLYTECHNIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Governors of Nanyang Polytechnic
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Nanyang 
Polytechnic (the “Polytechnic”) and its Subsidiary (the 
“Group”), which comprise the statements of financial 
position of the Group and the Polytechnic as at 31 
March 2021, the statements of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and statements of changes in 
equity of the Group and the Polytechnic and consolidated 
statement of cash flows of the Group for the year then 
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements of the Group and the statement 
of financial position, statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income and statement of change 
in equity of the Polytechnic are properly drawn up in 
accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector 
(Governance) Act 2018, Act 5 of 2018 (the “Public Sector 
(Governance) Act”), the Nanyang Polytechnic Act (the 
“Act”), the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the 
“Charities Act”) and Statutory Board Financial Reporting 
Standards in Singapore (“SB-FRSs”) so as to present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the 
Group and the Polytechnic as at 31 March 2021 and of 
the financial performance and changes in equity of the 
Group and the Polytechnic and cash flows of the Group 
for the year ended on that date.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore 
Standards on Auditing (SSAs). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the Accounting 
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (ACRA) Code of 
Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants  
and Accounting Entities (ACRA Code) together with the 
ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled 

our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements and the ACRA Code.  We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Other information

Management is responsible for other information. The 
other information comprises statement by board of 
governors set out on page 32.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on 
the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Responsibilities of management and Board 
of Governors for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with the provisions of the Act, the charities Act and 
SB-FRS, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A statutory board is constituted based on its Act 
and its dissolution requires Parliament’s approval. In 
preparing the financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using the going concern 
basis of accounting unless there is intention to wind up 
the Group or for the Group to cease operations

The responsibilities of the Board of Governors include 
overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or 
error and are considered material if, individually or in 
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial statements

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, 
we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.  The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by 
management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s 

use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the Group to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision 
and performance of the group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Board of Governors 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.
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NANYANG POLYTECHNIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Governors of Nanyang Polytechnic
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinion

In our opinion:
A. the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys 

and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the 
Polytechnic during the year are, in all material 
respects, in accordance with the provisions of the 
Public Sector (Governance) Act, the Act and the 
requirements of any other written law applicable to 
moneys of or managed by the Polytechnic; and

B. proper accounting and other records have been kept, 
including records of all assets of the Polytechnic and 
of the subsidiary of which we are auditors whether 
purchased, donated or otherwise.

During the course of our audit in relation to the 
Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund (the “Fund”), 
nothing has come to our attention that causes us to 
believe that during the year:
A. the use of donation moneys was not in accordance 

with the objectives of the Fund as required under 
regulation 11 of the Charities (Institutions of a Public 
Character) Regulations; and

B. the Fund has not complied with the requirements of 
regulation 15 (Fund-raising expenses) of the Charities 
(Institutions of a Public Character) Regulations.

There was no fund raising appeal conducted by the 
Fund during the year ended 31 March 2021.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with SSAs. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Compliance Audit section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the 
ACRA Code together with the ethical requirements that 
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements 
in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements 
and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion on management’s compliance.

Responsibilities of Management for 
Compliance with Legal and Regulatory 
Requirements

Management is responsible for ensuring that the 
receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the 
acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with 
the provisions of the Public Sector (Governance) Act, 
the Act and the requirement of any other written law 
applicable to moneys of or managed by the Polytechnic. 
This responsibility includes implementing accounting 
and internal controls as management determines are 
necessary to enable compliance with the provisions of 
the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Compliance Audit 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on 
management’s compliance based on our audit of 
the financial statements. We planned and performed 
the compliance audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the receipts, expenditure, investment of 
moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets, are 
in accordance with the provisions of the Public Sector 
(Governance) Act, the Act and the requirement of any 
other written law applicable to moneys of or managed 
by the Polytechnic. 

Our compliance audit includes obtaining an 
understanding of the internal control relevant to the 
receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the 
acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements 
from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. Because of the inherent limitations in any 
accounting and internal control system, non-compliances 
may nevertheless occur and not be detected.

.......................................................
Ernst & Young LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants 
Singapore

30 June 2021
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Statements of financial position
As at 31 March 2021 

Note

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital account 

Accumulated surplus 
General Fund
Restricted Funds

Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund

3

4

4

6,839

564,294
290

31,328

6,839

370,717
143,031

30,123

6,839

555,247
2,568

31,328

6,839

367,504
138,041

30,123

Total capital and other funds 602,751 550,710 595,982 542,507

Represented by:

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Subsidiary 
Investment securities 
Loan to students

5
6
7
8

424,995
—

287,819
15 

441,997
—

261,601 
15

424,989
*

282,591
15

441,987
*

256,929
15

712,829 703,613 707,595 698,931

Current assets
Investment securities
Sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments 
Loan to students
Courses/projects-in-progress
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants due from government

7
8
8

9
10

3,002
16,129

54
19

402,702 
21,267

8,755
15,894

69
22

362,413
16,668

3,002
15,886

54
19

400,870
21,250

   8,755
14,345

69
22

360,126
16,593

443,173 403,821 441,081 399,910

Current liabilities
Sundry creditors and accruals
Income received in advance
Grants received in advance

11
18
12

52,568 
4,302

22,007

44,559
3,640

26,691

52,241 
4,101 

21,978 

44,366 
3,518 

26,616 

78,877 74,890 78,320 74,500

Net current assets 364,296 328,931 362,761 325,410

Non-current liabilities
Deferred capital grants
Income received in advance

13
18

451,261
23,113

460,064 
21,770

451,261 
23,113 

460,064 
21,770 

474,374 481,834 474,374 481,834

Net assets 602,751 550,710 595,982 542,507

Funds’ net assets managed on behalf of others 14 7,031 6,524 7,031 6,524

*: Amount less than $1,000.
The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

Note

General Fund Restricted Funds Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP 

Income
Student fees 
Income from projects/courses/donations
Other income

4
15

54,935
29,370
31,477

55,026
—

14,463

—
1,750
1,109

—
35,808 

3,481

54,935
31,120 
32,586

55,026 
35,808 
17,944

115,782 69,489 2,859 39,289 118,641 108,778

Expenditure
Salaries and allowances
Staff development and benefits 
Teaching expenses
Repair, maintenance and utilities
Property, plant and equipment written off
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Other expenses

5

219,257
2,964

12,462
17,777

375
27,465
28,499 

210,285
3,475

10,945
17,897

111
29,686
21,299

—
—
—
—
—
—

2,641

14,844
229

6,764
2,232

—
2,271

13,639

219,257
2,964

12,462
17,777

375
27,465
31,140

225,129
3,704

17,709
20,129

111
31,957
34,938

308,799 293,698 2,641 39,979 311,440 333,677

(Deficit)/surplus before grants 

Grants
Grants utilised
Deferred capital grants amortised 

16 

12/13
13

(193,017) 

219,986
23,649

(224,209) 

226,245
25,162

218

—
—

(690)

225
2,265

(192,799)

219,986
23,649

(224,899)

   
226,470

27,427

243,635 251,407 — 2,490 243,635 253,897

Surplus after grants
Income taxes 17

50,618
—

27,198
—

218
— 

1,800
(808) 

50,836
— 

28,998
(808) 

Surplus for the year, representing total comprehensive 
income for the year 50,618 27,198 218 992 50,836 28,190
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NANYANG POLYTECHNIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY
Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

Note

General Fund Restricted Funds Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

POLYTECHNIC 

Income
Student fees 
Income from projects/courses/donations
Other income

4
15

54,935
28,970 
31,193

55,026
—

14,750

—
1,750
1,109

—
33,970 

3,378 

54,935
30,720
32,302

55,026 
33,970
18,128 

115,098 69,776 2,859 37,348 117,957 107,124

Expenditure
Salaries and allowances
Staff development and benefits 
Teaching expenses
Repair, maintenance and utilities
Property, plant and equipment written off
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Other expenses

5

217,147
2,952

12,462
17,777

375
27,461
28,283 

210,232
3,476

10,945
17,762

111
29,686
21,299

—
—
—
—
—
—

2,641

12,600
199

6,751
2,201

—
2,265

12,999

217,147
2,952

12,462
17,777

375
27,461
30,924

222,832
3,675

17,696
19,963

111
31,951
34,298

306,457 293,511 2,641 37,015 309,098 330,526

(Deficit)/surplus before grants 
Grants
Grants utilised
Deferred capital grants amortised 

16

12/13
13

(191,359)

219,762
23,649

(223,735)

226,245
25,162

218

—
—

333

   225
2,265

(191,141)

219,762
23,649

(223,402)

   226,470
27,427

243,411 251,407 — 2,490 243,411 253,897

Surplus for the year, representing total 
comprehensive income for the year 52,052 27,672 218 2,823 52,270 30,495

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Statements of changes in equity
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

Capital 
Account

General 
Fund

Restricted 
Fund

Nanyang 
Polytechnic 

Education Fund Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP 
At 01 April 2019

Surplus for the year, representing total comprehensive income for 
the year 

Donations and MOE matching grants (Note 4a)

6,839
 

—
—

343,519 

27,198
—

142,039

992
—

29,224

—
899

521,621
 

28,190
899

At 31 March 2020

Reclassification of Restricted Funds to General Fund (Note 4)
Surplus for the year, representing total comprehensive income for 

the year (Note 4)
Donations and MOE matching grants (Note 4a)

6,839 

—

—
—

370,717

142,959

50,618
—

143,031

(142,959)

218
—

30,123

—

—
1,205

550,710

—

50,836
1,205

At 31 March 2021 6,839 564,294 290 31,328 602,751

POLYTECHNIC 
At 01 April 2019

Surplus for the year, representing total comprehensive income for 
the year 

Donations and MOE matching grants (Note 4a)

6,839

—
—

339,832

27,672
—

135,218

2,823
—

29,224

—
899

511,113

30,495
899

At 31 March 2020

Reclassification of Restricted Funds to General Fund (Note 4)
Surplus for the year, representing total comprehensive income for 

the year (Note 4)
Donations and MOE matching grants (Note 4a)

6,839 

—

—
—

367,504

135,691

52,052
—

138,041

(135,691)

218
—

30,123

—

—
1,205

542,507

—

52,270
1,205

At 31 March 2021 6,839 555,247 2,568 31,328 595,982

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NANYANG POLYTECHNIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

Note 2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Operating activities

Deficit before grants
Adjustments for:

Interest income
Dividend income
Impairment loss on sundry receivables
Fair value adjustment on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Depreciation of property plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment written off

15
15
16
15
5
5

(192,799)

(4,189)
(2,661)

184
(22,099)

27,465
375

(224,899)

(7,147)
(3,163)

—
(1,474)
31,957

111

Deficit before working capital changes
Changes in working capital:

Sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments
Loan to students
Courses/project-in-progress
Sundry creditors and accruals
Income received in advance 

(193,724) 

(3,523)
15

3
7,962
2,005

(204,615)

527
98
(6)

(4,438)
1,463

Cash flows used in operations activities (187,262) (206,971)

Investing activities

Interest received
Dividends received
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Redemption/(Investment) in corporate bonds

7,293
2,661

(10,682)
1,634

6,627
3,163

(8,812)
(1,357)

Cash flows generated from/(used in) investing activities 906 (379)

Financing activities

Operating grants received from government
Development grants refunded to government 
Other grants received 
Donations and MOE matching grant for Nanyang  Polytechnic Education Fund

212,174
—

13,266
1,205

231,572
(5,433)
18,334

899 

Cash flows generated from financing activities 226,645 245,372

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 

40,289
362,413

38,022
324,391

Cash and cash equivalents (including cash managed by  
Accountant-General’s Department) at end of the year 9 402,702 362,413

The accompanying accounting policies and explanatory notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

These notes form an integral part of the financial 
statements. The financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the Board of Governors on 30 June 2021. 

1. DOMICILE AND ACTIVITIES

Nanyang Polytechnic (the “Polytechnic”) was 
established on 01 April 1992 under the Nanyang 
Polytechnic Act, Chapter 191A. It is domiciled in 
Singapore and its campus is situated at 180 Ang Mo 
Kio Ave 8, Singapore 569830.

The principal activities of the Polytechnic are those 
relating to the provision of quality education, training 
and research in business management, chemical and 
life sciences, design,  engineering, health and social 
sciences, information technology, interactive and 
digital media The principal activities of the subsidiary 
are set out in Note 6.

The Polytechnic also acts as the administrator or 
trustee for the Staff and Student Loans and Opportunity 
Fund for the Ministry of Education and notebook loans 
for the Singapore Totalisator Board.

The consolidated financial statements relate to 
the Polytechnic and its subsidiary (referred to as the 
“Group”).

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the applicable requirements of the 
Nanyang Polytechnic Act, Chapter 191A and Statutory 
Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”). SB-
FRS include Statutory Board Financial Reporting 
Standards, Interpretations of SB-FRS (“INT SB-FRS”) 
and SB-FRS Guidance Notes as promulgated by the 
Accountant-General.

The financial statements have been prepared on 
the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the 

accounting policies below.
The financial statements are presented in Singapore 

dollars, which is the Polytechnic’s functional currency. 
All financial information presented in Singapore 
dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand, 
unless otherwise stated.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value 
of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to 
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an 
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the 
characteristics of the asset or liability which market 
participants would take into account when pricing the 
asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value 
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these 
consolidated financial statements is determined on 
such a basis, except measurements that have some 
similarities to fair value but are not fair value (e.g. value 
in use for impairment assessment purposes).

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair 
value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the 
fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement 
in its entirety, which are described as follows:

• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
that the entity can access at the measurement 
date;

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices 
included within Level 1, that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; 
and

• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the 
asset or liability.
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Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

2. 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.2 New and revised standard 

Standards issued but not yet effective:

Description

Effective for annual 
periods beginning 
on or after

Amendment to SB-FRS 116 Leases: 
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

Amendments to SB-FRS 16 Property, 
Plant and Equipment: Proceeds 
before Intended Use

Amendments to SB-FRS 37 Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets: Onerous Contracts — Cost of 
Fulfilling a Contract

Amendments to SB-FRS 103 References 
to the Conceptual Framework

Amendments to SB-FRS 1 Presentation 
of Financial Statements: Classification 
of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current

 01 June 2020 
 

01 January 2022 
 
 

01 January 2022 

01 January 2022

 
 
 
01 January 2023

The governors expect that the adoption of the other 
standards and interpretation above will have no 
material impact on the financial statements in the 
period of initial application. 

2.3 Significant accounting judgements 
and estimate 

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements 
requires management to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of the income, expenditure, assets and 
liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities 
at the end of reporting period. Uncertainty about 
these assumptions and estimates could result in 
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to 
the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in 
the future periods. Management is of the opinion that 
there is no significant judgement made in applying 
accounting policies and there is no estimation 
uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a  
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities within the next financial period.

2.4 Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate 
the financial statements of the Polytechnic and 
entities controlled by the Polytechnic (its subsidiary). 
Control is achieved where the Polytechnic:

• Has power over the investee;
• Is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 

its involvement with the investee; and
• Has the ability to use its power to affect its 

returns.
The Polytechnic reassesses whether or not it 

controls an investee if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the 
three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of subsidiary begins when the 
Polytechnic obtains control over the subsidiary and 
ceases when the Polytechnic loses control of the 
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a 
subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income from the date 
the Polytechnic gains control until the date when the 
Polytechnic ceases to control the subsidiary.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to 
the financial statements of the subsidiary to bring 
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s 
accounting policies.

In the Polytechnic’s separate financial statements, 
investment in subsidiary is carried at cost less any 
impairment in net recoverable value that has been 
recognised in profit or loss.

2.5 Foreign currency transactions

The financial statements are presented in Singapore 
Dollar, which is the functional currency of the 
Polytechnic. Transactions in foreign currencies 
are translated into the functional currency of the 
Polytechnic and its subsidiary at the exchange rate 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at 

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

the reporting date are translated to the functional 
currency at the exchange rate at the reporting date. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value 
are translated into the functional currency at the 
exchange rate at the date on which the fair value was 
determined.

Foreign currency differences arising on 
retranslation are recognised in statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. 

2.6 General Fund

Income and expenditure relating to the main activities 
of the Polytechnic are accounted for through the 
General Fund in the statement of profit or loss and 
comprehensive income.

2.7 Restricted Funds

Separate funds are set up to account for contributions 
received and expenditure incurred for specific 
purposes. Income and expenditure relating to such 
funds are accounted for through the Restricted Funds 
in the statement of profit or loss and comprehensive 
income. The assets and liabilities of these funds are 
accounted for separately. For presentation purpose, 
the assets and liabilities of these funds are pooled 
together with those of the General Fund in the 
statements of financial position.

2.8 Grants

Government grants and contributions from other 
organisations are taken to the grants and income 
received in advance accounts in the statements 
of financial position, respectively, upon initial 
recognition. Other grants include grants from other 
Government Agencies.

Subsequently, government grants and 
contributions from other organisations utilised for 
the purchase/ construction of depreciable assets and 
the values of donated depreciable assets are taken to 
the deferred capital grants account in the statements 
of financial position, or to the statement of profit or 
loss and comprehensive income for assets which are  
 

written off in the year of purchase or donation.
The deferred capital grants are recognised in the 

statement of profit or loss and comprehensive income 
over the periods necessary to match the depreciation 
and write-off of the property, plant and equipment 
purchased with the related grants. Upon the disposal 
of an item of property, plant and equipment, the 
balance of the related deferred capital grants is 
recognised in statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income to match the net book value 
of the assets written off.

Government grants to meet the current year’s 
operating expenses are taken to the statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income for 
the year. Grants are accounted for on an accrual basis.

2.9 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

When parts of an item of property, plant and 
equipment have different useful lives, they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) 
of property, plant and equipment.

The cost of replacing part of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying 
amount of the item if it is probable that the future 
economic benefits embodied within the part will 
flow to the Polytechnic and its cost can be measured 
reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of 
property, plant and equipment are recognised in the 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over 
the estimated useful lives (or lease term, if shorter) of 
each part of an item of property, plant and equipment.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Leasehold land

Leasehold improvements

Buildings

Plant and machinery

Equipment

Furniture and fittings

Leasehold period of 99 years

5 years

50 years

10 years

3 to 10 years

5 years
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2. 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.9 Property, plant and equipment 
(cont’d)

Property, plant and equipment costing less than 
$5,000 each and renovations costing below $200,000 
are charged to the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income in the year of purchase.

Construction-in-progress is stated at cost. No 
depreciation is charged on construction-in-progress. 
Upon completion of the construction-in-progress, the 
amounts are transferred to the respective property, 
plant and equipment categories and depreciated 
accordingly.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at 
each reporting date.

2.10 Impairment — non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, the assets’ recoverable 
amounts are estimated.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds 
its recoverable amount. A cash-generating unit is the 
smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash 
flows that largely are independent from other assets 
and groups. Impairment losses are recognised in 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-
generating unit is the greater of its value in use and 
its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash-
generating unit.

Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are  

 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change 
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognised. Reversal of impairment 
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income. After such 
a reversal, the depreciation charge is adjusted in 
future periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying 
amount, less any residual value on a systematic basis 
over its remaining useful life.

2.11 Financial assets

• Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets are recognised when, and only 
when, the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the financial instrument. The Group 
determines the classification of its financial assets 
at initial recognition.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a 
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a 
financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that 
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets 
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Trade receivables are measured at the amount 
of consideration to which the Group expects to 
be entitled in exchange for transferring promised 
goods or services to a customer.

• Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets 
depends on their classification as follows:

I. Debt instruments at amortised cost
Financial assets that are held for the collection 
of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal and 
interest are measured at amortised cost. Financial 
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assets are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less impairment. Gain 
and losses are recognised in statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income when 
the assets are derecognised or impaired, and 
through amortisation process.

II. Investments at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria 
for amortised cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss. They include  
financial assets held for trading and financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair 
value through profit or loss. Financial assets are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired 
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term. Subsequent to initial recognition, 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
are measured at fair value. Any gains or losses 
arising from changes in fair value of the financial 
assets are recognised in profit or loss. For capital 
guaranteed investments, any deficiency in fair 
value below principal amount is recognised to 
profit or loss to the extent of the guaranteed 
amount. 

III. De-recognition 
A financial asset is derecognised where the 
contractual right to receive cash flows from 
the asset has expired. On derecognition of a 
financial asset in its entirety, the difference 
between the carrying amount and the sum of 
the consideration received and any cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognised in other 
comprehensive income for debt instruments is 
recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting arrangements
Financial assets and financial liabilities are 
offset and the net amount presented in the 
statement of financial position when the Group 
and Polytechnic has a legal enforceable right to 
set off the recognised amounts; and intends to 

either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously. A right 
to set-off must be available today rather than 
being contingent on a future event and must be 
exercisable by any of the counterparties, both in 
the normal course of business and in the event 
of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. 

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand, demand deposits, and short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
known amount of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

2.13 Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected 
credit losses (ECL) for all debt instruments not held at 
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the 
difference between the contractual cash flows due in 
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows 
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. 

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit 
exposures for which there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs 
are provided for credit losses that result from default 
events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is recognised 
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of 
the exposure, irrespective of timing of the default (a 
lifetime ECL).

For sundry receivables, the Group applies a 
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, 
the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but 
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime 
ECLs at each reporting date. The Group considers 
factors such as historical credit loss experience and 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors.

All impairment losses are recognised in the  
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2. 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.13 Impairment of financial assets 
(cont’d)

 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income.

Impairment losses in respect of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost is reversed if the 
subsequent increase in fair value can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
loss was recognised. Any subsequent reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised in statement of profit 
or loss and comprehensive income, to the extent that 
the carrying value of the asset does not exceed its 
amortised cost at the reversal date.

2.14 Financial liabilities

• Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are recognised when, and 
only when, the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. 
The Group determines the classification of its 
financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially 
at fair value, plus, in the case of financial liabilities 
not at fair value through profit or loss, directly 
attributable transaction costs.

• Subsequent measurement
After initial recognition, financial liabilities that are 
not carried at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. Gains and losses 
are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities 
are derecognised, and through the amortisation 
process.

De-recognition
The Group derecognises a financial liability when its 
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expired. On de-recognition, the difference between 

the carrying amounts and the consideration paid is 
recognised in profit or loss.

2.15 Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result 
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of 
economic resources will be required to settle the 
obligation and the amount of the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

Provisions are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimate. If it is no longer probable that an 
outflow of economic resources will be required to 
settle the obligation, the provision is reversed. If 
the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate 
that reflects, where appropriate, the risks specific to 
the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in 
the provision due to the passage of time is recognised 
as a finance cost.

2.16 Employee benefits

• Defined contribution plans
Contributions on the employees’ salaries are made 
to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”) as required 
by law. The CPF contributions are recognised 
as expenses in the period when the employees 
rendered their services.

• Short-term benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations, including 
accumulated compensated absences, are measured 
on an undiscounted basis and are recognised in 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as the related service is provided.

2.17 Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether 
a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
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identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 

• Group as a lessee
The Group applies a single recognition and 
measurement approach for all leases, except for 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. 
The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-of-use assets representing the 
right to use the underlying assets. 

I. Rights-of-use assets
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at 
the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the 
date the underlying asset is available for use). 
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less 
any accumulated depreciation and impairment 
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement 
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use 
assets includes the amount of lease liabilities 
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, 
and lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date less any lease incentives 
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on 
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease 
term.

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to 
the Group at the end of the lease term or the 
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, 
depreciation is calculated using the estimated 
useful life of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to 
impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in 
section 2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets.

II. Lease liabilities
At the commencement date of the lease, the 
Group recognises lease liabilities measured at 
the present value of lease payments to be made 
over the lease term. The lease payments include 
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed 
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be 

paid under residual value guarantees. The 
lease payments also penalties for terminating 
the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 
exercising the option to terminate. Variable 
lease payments that do not depend on an index 
or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless 
they are incurred to produce inventories) in 
the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease 
payments, the Group uses its incremental 
borrowing rate at the lease commencement 
date because the interest rate implicit in the 
lease is not readily determinable. After the 
commencement date, the amount of lease 
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion 
of interest and reduced for the lease payments 
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease 
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, 
a change in the lease term, a change in the lease 
payments (e.g., changes to future payments 
resulting from a change in an index or rate used 
to determine such lease payments) or a change 
in the assessment of an option to purchase the 
underlying asset.

III.  Short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease 
recognition exemption to its short-term leases 
of machinery and equipment (i.e., those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain a 
purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-
value assets recognition exemption to leases of 
office equipment that are considered to be low 
value. Lease payments on short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets are recognised as 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

The determination of whether an 
arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on 
the substance of the arrangement at inception 
date: whether fulfilment of the arrangement 
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2. 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.17 Leases (cont’d)

is dependent on the use of a specific asset or 
assets or the arrangement conveys a right to 
use the asset, even if that right is not explicitly 
specified in an arrangement.

As lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an 
expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. The aggregate benefit of 
incentives provided by the lessor is recognised 
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease 
term on a straight-line basis.

As lessor
Leases in which the Group does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating 
leases. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised 
over the lease term on the same bases as rental 
income. Contingent rents are recognised as 
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

2.18 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to 
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange 
for transferring promised goods or services to a 
customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of 
third parties.

Revenue is recognised when the Group satisfies 
a performance obligation by transferring a promised 
good or service to the customer, which is when the 
customer obtains control of the good or service. A 
performance obligation may be satisfied at a point in 
time or over time. The amount of revenue recognised 
is the amount allocated to the satisfied performance 
obligation.

Student fees
Course fees for an academic year is recognised over 
the period of instruction in a financial year.

Income from projects/courses
Income from projects/courses is recognised as income 
over time, based on the progress of work performed. 

Donations
Donations are recognised when utilised. Donations 
that are not utilised will be presented as “income 
received in advance” on the statement of financial 
position.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportionate 
basis using the effective interest method.

Rental income
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis 
over the lease terms.

Dividend income
Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s 
right to receive payment is established.

2.19 Income tax

The Polytechnic enjoys automatic income tax 
exemption as it is a charitable institution.

The subsidiary of the Polytechnic is subject to tax 
under Singapore income tax legislation.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the 
taxable income for the year, using tax rates (and tax 
laws) enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax 
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised, providing for all 
temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities 
and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to be applied to the temporary differences 
when they reverse, based on the tax rates (and 
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tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent 
that it is probable that future taxable income will be 
available against which temporary differences can 
be utilised.   Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the 
end of the reporting period and are reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that the related 
tax benefit will be realised.

Current and deferred tax are recognised as an 
expense or credit in profit or loss, except when they 
relate to items credited or debited outside profit or 
loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised 
outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively).

2.20 Funds managed on behalf of others

Funds are set up to account for contributions received 
from external sources for specific purposes.

The net assets of the funds managed on behalf 
of others are disclosed as a separate item in the 
statement of financial position. The income and 
expenditure relating to these funds are accounted for 
directly in the funds. Details of income, expenditure, 
assets and liabilities are disclosed in the notes to the 
financial statements.

2.21 Contingencies

A contingent liability is:
A. a possible obligation that arises from past events 

and whose existence will be confirmed only by 
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the Group; or

B. a present obligation that arises from past events 
but is not recognised because:
I. It is not probable that an outflow of resources 

embodying economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation; or 

II. The amount of the obligation cannot be 
measured with sufficient reliability.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from 
past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or 
more uncertain future events not wholly within the 
control of the Group. 

Contingent liabilities and assets are not 
recognised on the balance sheet of the Group, except 
for contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination that are present obligations and which 
the fair values can be reliably determined.
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3. CAPITAL ACCOUNT

$771,000 capital account previously under Restricted Funds relates to the French-Singapore Institute, German-
Singapore Institute and Japan-Singapore Institute which were transferred from the Economic Development Board to 
Nanyang Polytechnic on 01 February 1993. This amount were reclassified from Restricted Funds to General Fund with 
effect from 01 April 2020.

4. RESTRICTED FUNDS 

On 21 October 2020, the Polytechnic obtained approval from the Board of Governors to reclassify Project and 
Professional Development Courses Fund, Sinking Fund and Student Welfare/Development Fund from Restricted 
Funds to General Fund with effect from 01 April 2020.  As a result, the operating income and operating expenditure 
for these funds has been recorded in the General Fund from 01 April 2020 onwards. These funds are self-designated 
and self-earmarked by the Polytechnic for specific purposes.  The Polytechnic has direct control of the administration 
of these funds and is able to re-designate such funds for other usage when the circumstances arise.

As at 31 March 2021, the Restricted Funds of the Group and of the Polytechnic comprise the following:

Name of fund Purpose

Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund To provide financial assistance to needy and deserving students, 
recognise the achievements of outstanding students and graduates 
and to promote Nanyang Polytechnic as an institution of distinction.
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Group and Polytechnic

General Fund Restricted Funds Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

At 01 April

Reclassification 

6,068

771

771

(771)

6,839

—

At 31 March 6,839 — 6,839

A.  Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund
Donations and contributions made to the Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund for endowment purpose are 
retained as principal capital to be kept intact to earn income. Income and expenditure of the Nanyang Polytechnic 
Education Fund are taken to “Restricted Funds” in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
[Note 4(b)].

The principal capital comprises the following:

The use of donation moneys is in accordance with the objectives of the Nanyang Polytechnic Education 
Fund. There are no fund-raising activities during both financial years. The income earned solely relates to interest 
income derived from the fixed deposits, corporate bonds and donations received. Other receivables of $44,400 
(2020: $99,500) is a matching endowment fund donation grant receivable from the Ministry of Education.

The total amount of tax- deductible donations received for the calendar year 2021 is $688,100 (calendar year 
2020: $317,200).

Group and Polytechnic

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

At 01 April

Donations 
MOE matching grant 

30,123

140
1,065

1,205

29,224

179
720

899

At 31 March 31,328 30,123

Represented by:
Fixed deposits 
Corporate bonds
Cash at bank
Other receivables

3,897
27,270

117
44

819
28,904

300
100

At 31 March 31,328 30,123
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4. RESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 

B.  The breakdown of the income, expenditure, assets and liabilities of the individual funds under the Restricted Funds 
are as follows:

Project and
Professional

Development
Courses Fund Sinking Fund

Nanyang
Polytechnic
Education

Fund

Student
Welfare/

Development
Fund Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP 
Income
Income from projects/ courses/

donations
Other income

—
—

32,715
2,048

—
—

871
202

1,750
1,109

1,624
1,206

—
—

598
25

1,750
1,109

35,808
3,481

— 34,763 — 1,073 2,859 2,830 — 623 2,859 39,289

Expenditure
Salaries and allowances
Staff development and benefits
Teaching expenses
Repairs, maintenance and 

utilities
Property, plant and equipment 

written off
Depreciation of property, plant 

and equipment
Other expenses

—
—
— 

—

—

—
—

14,844
229

6,764
 519

—

2,270
10,731

—
—
— 

—

—

—
—

—
—
—   1,713

   —
  1

—

—
—
— 

—

—

—
2,641

—
—
— 

—

—

—
2,511

—
—
— 

—

—

—
—

—
—
— 

—

—

—
397

—
—
— 

—

—

—
2,641

14,844
229

6,764 

2,232  

—

2,271
13,639

— 35,357 — 1,714 2,641 2,511 — 397 2,641 39,979

Surplus/(deficit) before grants
Grants utilised
Deferred capital grants 

amortised

—
—

—

(594)
225

2,265

—
—

—

(641)
—

—

218
—

—

319
—

—

—
—

—

226
—

—

218
—

—

(690)
225

2,265

Surplus/(deficit) after grants
Income taxes

—
—

1,896
(808)

—
—

(641)
—

218
—

319
—

—
—

226
—

218
—

1,800
(808)

Surplus/(deficit) for the 
year,  representing total 
comprehensive income for 
the year

Accumulated surplus at 01 April
Reclassification to General Fund

—
125,608

(125,608)

1,088
124,520

—

—
14,748

(14,748)

(641)
15,389

—

218
72
—

319
(247)

—

—
2,603

(2,603)

226
2,377

—

218
143,031

(142,959)

992
142,039

—

Accumulated surplus at 31 
March — 125,608 — 14,748 290 72 — 2,603 290 143,031
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Project and
Professional

Development
Courses Fund Sinking Fund

Nanyang
Polytechnic
Education

Fund

Student
Welfare/

Development
Fund Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital account (Note 3)
Capital account at 01 April 
Reclassification to General Fund

771
(771)

771
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

771
(771)

771
—

Capital account at 31 March — 771 — — — — — — — 771

Total Restricted Funds at 31 
March — 126,379 — 14,748 290 72 — 2,603 290 143,802

Represented by:
Property, plant and equipment
Investment securities
Deferred tax assets
Sundry receivables, deposits 

and prepayments
Courses/projects-in-progress
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants due from government
Sundry creditors and accruals
Income received in advance 

(current liabilities)
Income received in advance 

(non-current liabilities)
Grants received in advance
Deferred capital grants (non-

government)

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—

—
—

—

3,043
85,262

—

6,358
22

46,807
11,463
(1,314)

(793)

—
(21,304)

(3,165)

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—

—
—

—

2
17,562

—

155
—

(2,772)
—

(197)

—

—
—

(2)

—
—
—

316
—

10,308
—

(88)

(1,614)

(8,632)
—

—

—
—
—

411
—

7,959
—

(38)

(1,607)

(6,653)
—

—

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—

—
—

—

—
—
—

12
—

2,607
—

(16)

—

—
—

—

—
—
—

316
—

10,308
—

(88)

(1,614)

(8,632)
—

—

3,045
102,824

— 

6,936
22

54,601
11,463
(1,565)

(2,400)

(6,653)
(21,304)

(3,167)

— 126,379 — 14,748 290 72 — 2,603 290 143,802
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4. RESTRICTED FUNDS (CONT’D) 

Project and
Professional

Development
Courses Fund Sinking Fund

Nanyang
Polytechnic

Education
Fund

Student
Welfare/

Development
Fund Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

POLYTECHNIC 
Income
Income from projects/courses/

donations
Other income

—
—

29,911
1,944

—
—

1,837
202

1,750
1,109

1,624
1,206

—
—

598
26

1,750
1,109

33,970
3,378

— 31,855 — 2,039 2,859 2,830 — 624 2,859 37,348

Expenditure
Salaries and allowances
Staff development and benefits
Teaching expenses
Repairs, maintenance and utilities
Property, plant and equipment 

written off
Depreciation of property, plant 

and equipment
Other expenses

—
— 
—
—  

—

—
—

12,600
199

6,751
487  

—

2,264
10,090

—
— 
—
—  

—

—
—

—
—
—

1,714  

—

1
—

—
—
—
—  

—

—
2,641

—
—
—
—  

—

—
2,512

—
— 
—
—  

—

—
—

—
—
—
—  

—

—
397

—
—
—
—  

—

—
2,641

12,600
199

6,751
2,201  

—

2,265
12,999

— 32,391 — 1,715 2,641 2,512 — 397 2,641 37,015

Surplus/(deficit) before grants
Grants utilised
Deferred capital grants amortised

—
—
—

(536)
225

2,264

—
—
—

324
—

1

218
—
—

318
—
—

—
—
—

227
—
—

218
—
—

333
225

2,265

Surplus for the year, representing 
total comprehensive income 
for the year

Accumulated surplus at 01 April
Reclassification to General Fund

—
110,222

(110,222)

1,953
108,269

—

—
22,865

(22,865)

325
22,540

—

218
2,350

—

318
2,032

—

—
2,604

(2,604)

227
2,377

—

218
138,041

(135,691) 

2,823
135,218

—

Accumulated surplus at 31 
March — 110,222 — 22,865 2,568 2,350 — 2,604 2,568 138,041

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

Project and
Professional

Development
Courses Fund Sinking Fund

Nanyang
Polytechnic

Education
Fund

Student
Welfare/

Development
Fund Total

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Capital account (Note 3)
Capital account at 01 April 
Reclassification to General Fund

771
(771)

771
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

771
(771)

771
—

Capital account at 31 March — 771 — — — — — — — 771

Total Restricted Funds at 31 
March — 110,993 — 22,865 2,568 2,350 — 2,604 2,568 138,812

Represented by:
Property, plant and equipment
Subsidiary 
Investment securities
Sundry receivables, deposits 

and prepayments
Courses/projects-in-progress
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants due from government
Sundry creditors and accruals
Income received in advance 

(current liabilities)
Income received in advance 

(non-current liabilities)
Grants received in advance
Deferred capital grants (non-

government)

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—

—
—

—

3,032
*

80,590

4,748
22

37,345
11,388
(1,066)

(672)

—
(21,229)

(3,165)

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—

—
—

—

2
—

17,562

187
—

5,355
—

(239)

—

—
—

(2)

—
—
—

316
—

12,586
—

(88)

(1,614)

(8,632)
—

—

—
—
—

410
—

10,238
—

(38)

(1,607)

(6,653)
—

—

—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—

—
—

—

—
—
—

12
—

2,607
—

(15)

—

—
—

—

—
—
—

316
—

12,586
—

(88)

(1,610)

(8,632)
—

—

3,034
*

98,152 

5,357
22

55,545
11,388
(1,358)

(2,279)

(6,653)
(21,229)

(3,167)

— 110,993 — 22,865 2,568 2,350 — 2,604 2,568 138,812

*: Amount less than $1,000.

r 

_J 



57 58

 ANNUAL REPORT 2020-2021     

Notes to the financial statements
For the financial year ended 31 March 2021

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold 
Land

Leasehold 
improvements Buildings

Plant and  
Machinery Equipment

Furniture and 
Fittings Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

GROUP 
Cost:

At 01 April 2019
Additions 
Reclassifications
Written off

145,820
—
—
—

12,681
—
—

(1,201)

464,766
—

(78)
(169)

200,973
1,961

—
(4,150)

218,076
6,703

78
(11,474)

23,851
179

—
(119)

1,066,167
8,843

—
(17,113)

At 31 March 2020
Additions 
Written off

145,820
—
—

11,480
291
(20)

464,519
—

(581)

198,784
—

(43)

213,383
10,447

(14,926)

23,911
100

(265)

1,057,897
10,838

(15,835)

At 31 March 2021 145,820 11,751 463,938 198,741 208,904 23,746 1,052,900

Accumulated depreciation:
At 01 March 2019
Depreciation for the year
Written off

36,210
1,473

—

11,312
621

(1,201)

167,537
9,516

(70)

170,110
5,526

(4,150)

193,732
13,860

(11,463)

22,044
961

(118)

600,945
31,957

(17,002)

At 31 March 2020
Depreciation for the year
Written off

37,683
1,472

—

10,732
390
(20)

176,983
9,526
(215)

171,486
5,350

(43)

196,129
10,254

(14,925)

22,887
473

(257)

615,900
27,465

(15,460)

At 31 March 2021 39,155 11,102 186,294 176,793 191,458 23,103 627,905

Carrying amount:
At 31 March 2021 106,665 649 277,644 21,948 17,446 643 424,995

At 31 March 2020 108,137 748 287,536 27,298 17,254 1,024 441,997

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

Leasehold 
Land

Leasehold 
improvements Buildings

Plant and  
Machinery Equipment

Furniture and 
Fittings Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

POLYTECHNIC 
Cost:

At 01 April 2019
Additions 
Reclassifications
Written off

145,820
—
—
—

12,681
—
—

(1,201)

464,766
—

(78)
(169)

200,973
1,961

—
(4,150)

218,058
6,703

78
(11,471)

23,818
179

—
(119)

1,066,116
8,843

—
(17,110)

At 31 March 2020
Additions 
Written off

145,820
—
—

11,480
291
(20)

464,519
—

(581)

198,784
—

(43)

213,368
10,447

(14,926)

23,878
100

(265)

1,057,849
10,838

(15,835)

At 31 March 2021 145,820 11,751 463,938 198,741 208,889 23,713 1,052,852

Accumulated depreciation:
At 01 March 2019
Depreciation for the year
Written off

36,210
1,473

—

11,312
621

(1,201)

167,537
9,516

(70)

170,110
5,526

(4,150)

193,722
13,858

(11,460)

22,019
957

(118)

600,910
31,951

(16,999)

At 31 March 2020
Depreciation for the year
Written off

37,683
1,472

—

10,732
390
(20)

176,983
9,526
(215)

171,486
5,350

(43)

196,120
10,252

(14,925)

22,858
471

(257)

615,862
27,461

(15,460)

At 31 March 2021 39,155 11,102 186,294 176,793 191,447 23,072 627,863

Carrying amount:
At 31 March 2021 106,665 649 277,644 21,948 17,442 641 424,989

At 31 March 2020 108,137 748 287,536 27,298 17,248 1,020 441,987

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment of $10,838,000 (2020: $8,843,000). The additions 
were by way of cash payments of $10,587,000 (2020: $8,748,000), donated assets of $109,000 (2020: $nil) and amount 
payable to suppliers of $142,000 (2020: $95,000).

Cash outflow in the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year also includes payments for property, plant 
and equipment acquired in the previous year of $95,000 (2020: $64,000).
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6. SUBSIDIARY

NANYANG POLYTECHNIC
AND ITS SUBSIDIARY

Polytechnic

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Unquoted ordinary shares, at cost * *

Details of the subsidiary is as follows:

Name of 
subsidiary Principal activities

Country of 
incorporation

Proportion 
of ownership 
interest and 

voting power held
Cost of 

investment

2021 2020 2021 2020

% % $’000 $’000

Nanyang 
Polytechnic 
International 
Private Limited

To provide education and training 
services; undertake consultancy 
education and technology projects in 
education and related areas; establish 
and promote NYP brand name 
internationally  by exporting NYP’s 
capabilities, expertise and experiences

Singapore 100 100 * *

*: Amount less than $1,000.

7. INVESTMENT SECURITIES

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-current assets
Unit trusts managed by fund managers 
Capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager 
Corporate bonds

216,105
47,446
24,268

195,225
46,227
20,149

210,877
47,446
24,268

190,553
46,227
20,149

287,819 261,601 282,591 256,929

Current assets
Corporate bonds 3,002 8,755 3,002 8,755

Total 290,821 270,356 285,593 265,684

The capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager comprises the following:

Group and Polytechnic

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Interest bearing securities 
Unit trusts
Forward currency contracts
Cash and cash equivalents

41,087
3,994

43
2,322

42,224
2,332

39
1,632

47,446 46,227

Capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager
The capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager is classified as financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss. However, any deficiency in fair value of the portfolio below principal amount is recognised 
to the extent of the guaranteed amount of $45,000,000 (2020: $45,000,000). The fund management agreement is 
for a period of 4 years from November 2018 to November 2022.

Corporate bonds
The corporate bonds bear interest rates of 2.48% to 4.25% (2020: 3.035% to 4.75%) per annum and will mature 
or be callable by the bond issuers, whichever is earlier, in less than 1 year to 9 years (2020: 1 to 6 years). Interest is 
receivable on a semi-annual basis. 
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7. INVESTMENT SECURITIES (CONT’D)

Unit trusts managed by fund managers 
Investments managed by fund managers form part of the Polytechnic funds which are administered by 2 external 
asset management financial institutions (fund managers). The fund managers are given discretionary powers within 
certain guidelines to invest the funds. The unit trusts are approved investments in the Demand Aggregation for fund 
management services by the Accountant-General’s Department. The unit trusts comprise the following:

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Interest bearing securities
Equities
Cash and cash equivalents

127,202
43,809
45,094

135,875
26,985
32,365

124,139
42,782
43,956

132,628
26,328
31,597

216,105 195,225 210,877 190,553

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets managed by fund managers at fair value through profit or loss: 
Unit trusts
Capital guaranteed investment portfolio

216,105
47,446

195,225
46,227

210,877
47,446

190,553
46,227

Financial assets at amortised cost: 
Corporate bonds 

263,551

27,270

241,452

28,904

258,323

27,270

236,780

28,904

290,821 270,356 285,593 265,684

The categories of these investment securities and their carrying amounts are as follows:

8. SUNDRY RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Current:
Sundry receivables
Tuition fees
Deposits
Interest receivable
Amount due from subsidiary
Loan to students

9,374
665
751

1,017
—
54

5,683
682
736

4,121
—
69

9,133
665
751

1,017
1

54

4,144
682
730

4,121
63
69

Non-current:
Loan to students

11,861

15

11,291

15

11,621

15

9,809

15

Total financial assets

Non-financial assets
Prepayments
Goods and services tax receivable

11,876

3,589
733

11,306

3,672
1,000

11,636

3,589
730

9,824

3,670
935

Total non-financial assets 4,322 4,672 4,319 4,605

Less: Loan to students
16,198

(69)
15,978

(84)
15,955

(69)
14,429

(84)

Total sundry receivables, deposits and prepayments 16,129 15,894 15,886 14,345

Sundry receivables and the amount due from subsidiary are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 to 90 days’ 
terms. They are recognised at their original invoice amounts which represent their fair values on initial recognition.

Loan to students are notebook loans that are interest-free. Loans are repayable in monthly instalments commencing 
6 months after graduation or on the graduate securing employment, whichever is earlier. For male borrowers with 
national service obligations, the loans are repayable on the first day of the third month immediately following 
Operationally Ready Date (ORD). 
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8. SUNDRY RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS (CONT’D)

The movements in allowance for expected credit losses allowance of sundry receivables are as follows:

Group and Polytechnic

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

At 01 April
Loss allowance
Written-off

4
198

—

44
—

(40)

At 31 March 202 4

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group’s and Polytechnic’s financial assets at amortised cost include the 
following financial assets:

Group Polytechnic

Note

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Corporate bonds
Sundry receivables and deposits
Loan to students
Cash and cash equivalents
Grants due from government

7
8
8
9

10

27,270
11,807

69
402,702

21,267

28,904
11,222

84
362,413

16,668

27,270
11,567

69
400,870

21,250

28,904
9,740

84
360,126

16,593

463,115 419,291 461,026 415,447

9. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current:
Cash at bank and in hand
Cash managed by the Accountant-General’s Department 

10,224
392,478

8,917
353,496

8,392
392,478

6,631
353,495

Cash and cash equivalents 402,702 362,413 400,870 360,126

The Polytechnic manages a total of 1 (2020: 1) bank account on behalf of Nanyang Polytechnic Student’s Union and its 
Constituent Clubs. As at end of the reporting period, cash at bank of $1,061,000 (2020: $801,000) has not been included 
in the cash and cash equivalents of the Group and Polytechnic. 

10. GRANTS DUE FROM GOVERNMENT

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Operating grants
Grants for research projects/centre
Programme and centre
Others

11,324
1,281
8,600

62

5,676
4,576
6,241

175

11,324
1,281
8,600

45

5,676
4,576
6,241

100

21,267 16,668 21,250 16,593
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11. SUNDRY CREDITORS AND ACCRUALS

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial liabilities
Sundry creditors
Deposits
Accrual for purchase of property, plant and equipment
Accruals
Amount due to subsidiary

7,126
6,233

142
22,332

—

5,394
5,097

95
23,497

—

7,095
6,200

142
22,204

36

5,384
5,063

95
23,387

54

Total financial liabilities at amortised cost

Non-financial liabilities
Short-term accumulated compensated absences

35,833

16,735

34,083

10,476

35,677

16,564

33,983

10,383

Total non-financial liabilities 16,735 10,476 16,564 10,383

Sundry creditors and accruals 52,568 44,559 52,241 44,366

The amount due to subsidiary is unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand and expected to be settled in cash. 

12. GRANTS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 01 April 

Grants received/receivable/(refunded) during the year:
Government operating grants
Government development grants
Course fees, research and other grants

26,691

195,581
—

26,615

26,979

205,166
(5,433)
37,669

26,616

195,581
—

26,437

26,979

205,166
(5,433)
37,594

Transfer to deferred capital grants:
Other grants

Amount taken to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:
Government operating grants
Other grants

248,887

(467)

(195,607)
(16,408)

264,381

(1,593)

(206,418)
(13,681)

248,634

(467)

(195,607)
(16,184)

264,306

(1,593)

(206,418)
(13,681)

Government operating and other grants utilised
Course fees and research grants

(212,015)
(14,398)

(220,099)
(15,998)

(211,791)
(14,398)

(220,099)
(15,998)

At 31 March 22,007 26,691 21,978 26,616

During the financial year, the Group and Polytechnic received a grant of $18,373,000 (2020:  $18,922,000) from the 
Ministry of Education to settle the outstanding goods and services tax payable to the Inland Revenue Authority 
of Singapore and $5,404,000 (2020:  $4,482,000) of bursary for disbursement to the students during the year and 
additional funding support for provision of financial assistance. The SkillsFuture Singapore/Ministry of Education 
provided $2,000 (2020:  $142,000) for Continuing Education Training Qualifications Award. These amounts are not 
included in the operating grants received from the government.
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13. DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS

Group and Polytechnic

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

At 01 April 

Grant recognised as deferred income:
Government IT and F&E grants received
Other grants

460,064

22,241
109

469,922

22,344
3

Transfer from grants received in advance:
Other grants

Grants taken to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income:
Government IT and F&E grants
Other grants

482,414

467

(7,971)
—

492,269

1,593

(6,314)
(57)

Government IT, F&E and other grants utilised
Deferred capital grant amortisation-government
Deferred capital grant amortisation-Other grants

(7,971)
(21,757)

(1,892)

(6,371)
(24,960)

(2,467)

(31,620) (33,798)

At 31 March 451,261 460,064

Represented by:
Grants utilised 
Grants not utilised

366,875
84,386

381,499
78,565

At 31 March 451,261 460,064

14. FUNDS MANAGED ON BEHALF OF OTHERS

Group and Polytechnic

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Funds managed on behalf of Ministry of Education
Student loans
Opportunity Fund

6,042
989

5,607
917

At 31 March 7,031 6,524

Loans given to students are interest-free until 01 June for borrowers who graduate in the first half of the year or 01 
December for borrowers who graduate in the second half of the year. For those with National Service obligation, interest 
charge will commence from the first day of the month immediately following the month they complete their National 
Service. Loans are repayable by monthly instalments with interest at 4.75% (2020: 4.75%) per annum which is based on 
the average prime rates of banks or such other rates as may be determined by the Polytechnic from time to time.

The Opportunity Fund is provided to level up enrichment opportunities for Singapore Citizen students from lower 
income households. This includes assistance for overseas trips and purchase of computer devices. 

Group and Polytechnic

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

I. Funds managed on behalf of Ministry of Education
At 01 April
Amount received during the year
Amount utilised during the year
Amount refunded during the year
Amount written off during the year

6,524
1,168
(635)

(13)
(13)

7,133
1,319

(1,889)
(5)

(34)

At 31 March 7,031 6,524

Represented by:
Student loans
Sundry debtors
Sundry creditors
Cash and cash equivalents

5,937
205
(99)
988

5,511
219

(137)
931

Net assets 7,031 6,524

The cash and cash equivalents of $988,000 (2020:  $931,000) are held on behalf of the Ministry for the purpose of 
extending student loans and to level up enrichment opportunities for Singapore Citizen students from lower income 
household.
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15. OTHER INCOME

The following items have been included in arriving at other income:

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Dividend income
Fair value adjustment on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Interest income

6
2,661

22,099
4,189

(82)
3,163
1,474
7,147

11
2,661

21,543
4,189

(81)
3,702
1,364
7,146

Fair value adjustment on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss refers to the difference between the fair 
value of the investment securities and their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2021 and 2020. 

16. (DEFICIT)/SURPLUS BEFORE GRANTS

The following items have been charged/(credited) in arriving at (deficit)/surplus before grants:

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Impairment loss on sundry receivables
Contribution to Central Provident Fund, included in salaries and allowances
Rental related income (Apartments)

184
23,839

(869)

—
24,769

(871)

184
23,657

(869)

—
24,574
(1,837)

17. INCOME TAXES

Group

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Income tax:
- Over provision in prior years — —

— —

Deferred tax:
- Origination and reversal or temporary differences
- Reversal of provision in prior years

—
—

—
(808)

Income tax expense — (808)

The reconciliation of the tax expense and surplus after grants multiplied by the applicable tax rate is as follows:

Group

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Surplus after grants 50,836 28,998

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 17% (2020: 17%)
Effect of surplus exempt from taxation
Deferred tax assets not recognised
Effect of non-deductible expenses
Reversal of deferred tax assets previously recognised in prior years

(8,642)
9,018
(375)

(1)
—

(4,930)
5,112
(182)

—
(808)

Income tax expense — (808)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s subsidiary has tax losses of approximately S$7,870,000 (2020: S$5,739,000) 
that are available for offset against future taxable profit of the Group’s subsidiary. 
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18. INCOME RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Income received in advance 27,415 25,410 27,214 25,288

Represented by
Current:
Student/Project fees
Donations
Service fees

2,126
1,539

637

1,396
1,607

637

1,924
1,540

637

1,274
1,607

637

4,302 3,640 4,101 3,518

Non-current:
Donations
Service fees

8,632
14,481

6,653
15,117

8,632
14,481

6,653
15,117

23,113 21,770 23,113 21,770

27,415 25,410 27,214 25,288

Revenue recognised that was included in fees received in advance balance as at the beginning of the year in Group 
and Polytechnic are $3,198,000 and $3,178,000 respectively (2020: $2,516,000 and $2,491,000).

The student/project fees received in advance are mainly student fees received in advance for the new financial 
year and income from projects and courses for course durations starting from April 2021.

Donations are mainly scholarship and bursary awards received in advance and will be disbursed to the student 
recipients in the new academic year starting from April 2021 (2020: April 2020) and beyond.

The Polytechnic received fees in advance from Singapore Institute of Technology (“SIT”) for the usage of the 
Polytechnic’s facilities by SIT students. The fees received in advance will only be recognised as revenue when services 
are rendered by the Polytechnic in accordance to the service fee agreement between the Polytechnic and SIT.

19. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Group and Polytechnic

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Capital commitments approved by the Board and contracted but not provided for 2,728 2,593

The capital commitments are funded from government grants and general fund.

20. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL COMPENSATION

Key management personnel of the Group are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Group. The Principal/Chief Executive Officer (Polytechnic), Chief Executive 
Officer (subsidiary), Deputy Principals, Senior Directors and Directors are considered as key management personnel of 
the Group.

The key management personnel compensation is as follows:

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Short-term employee benefits
CPF contributions

9,190
583

9,762
601

8,265
532

8,774
543

9,773 10,363 8,797 9,317
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A. Financial risk management policies and objectives

Risk management is integral to the whole activities of the Group. The Group has a system of controls in place to 

create an acceptable balance between the cost of risks occurring and the cost of managing the risks. The Group 
continually monitors its risk management process to ensure that an appropriate balance between risk and control 
is achieved.

I. Credit risk
Credit risk is the potential loss resulting from the failure of a customer or a party to settle its financial and 
contractual obligations to the Group, as and when they fall due.

At reporting date, the Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, except for grants due from 
government and investment in bonds.

Credit risk on grants due from government is low as claims made are within funding guidelines and it is unlikely 
that the Government will default on payment. Cash and cash equivalents are placed with banks and financial 
institutions which are regulated. The cash managed by Accountant-General’s Department under Centralised 
Liquidity Management (“CLM”) are placed with high credit quality financial institutions and are available upon 
request.

The following are qualitative information about the Group’s expected credit loss model for significant class 
of financial assets.

Financial asset class Definitions of default Basis for recognition of expected 
credit loss provision

Sundry receivables Student fee, course fee and project fee that are past due and 
not supported by financial assistance scheme.

Simplified approach to recognise 
lifetime expected credit losses

Interest receivables Significant decline in credit quality of financial institutions and 
interest repayments that are past due. 12-month expected credit losses

Investments in bonds Significant decline in credit rating of bonds, and interest and/or 
principal repayments that are past due and long outstanding. 12-month expected credit losses

The Group has measured the impairment loss allowance and determined that the ECL is insignificant. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 

statements of financial position. Further details of receivables are disclosed in Note 8.

II. Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s financial instruments will 
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. 

Interest rate sensitivity
The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for significant 
non-derivative instruments at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at the 
beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period in the case of instruments 
that have floating rates. A 50 basis point increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of the 
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

At the end of the reporting period, if the interest rate had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points) higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s surplus for the year would have increased/decreased by 
$1,962,000 (2020: $1,767,000).

III.  Foreign currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange 
rates.

The Polytechnic is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as its transactions, financial assets and 
liabilities are mainly denominated in Singapore dollars.

IV.  Market price risk
The Group is exposed to market price risk arising from its investment securities, which are classified as financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss. Certain investments are capital guaranteed, subject to conditions.

At the end of the reporting period, if the fair value of the investment securities had been 10% (2020: 10%) 
higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the Group’s surplus for the year would have increased/
decreased by $26,355,000/$24,057,000 (2020: $24,145,000/$20,749,000).

B. Fair value of financial assets
The Group categorises fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy as disclosed in note 2.1
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

B. Fair value of financial assets (cont’d)

I.  Financial instruments that are carried at fair value
The following table shows an analysis of investment securities carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy:

The fair value of the corporate bonds are classified as level 1 in the fair value hierarchy as they are based on 
quoted bid prices in an active market.

Group and Polytechnic

Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Carrying 
amount

Carrying 
amount

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financial assets
Corporate bonds (Note 7) 27,270 28,023 28,904 28,543

Significant observable inputs 
other than quoted prices (Level 2)

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

GROUP 
Investment securities (Note 7):
Unit trusts managed by fund managers
Capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager

216,105
47,446

195,225
46,227

263,551 241,452

POLYTECHNIC 
Investment securities (Note 7):
Unit trusts managed by fund managers
Capital guaranteed investment portfolio managed by fund manager

210,877
47,446

190,553
46,227

258,323 236,780

The fair value of the unit trusts and capital guaranteed investment portfolio is determined by the Polytechnic’s 
fund managers based on observable market prices of the securities in the portfolio and other inputs at the end 
of the reporting period.

II.  Financial instruments not carried at fair values for which fair value is disclosed
The aggregate net fair values of recognised financial assets which are not carried at fair value in the statement of 
financial position as at 31 March are represented in the following table:

Group Polytechnic

2021 2020 2021 2020

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Net assets 602,751 550,710 595,982 542,507

23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis 
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, interest-free 
and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

During the financial year, other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following were the related 
party transactions based on terms agreed between the parties:

Polytechnic

2021 2020

$’000 $’000

Between the Polytechnic and its subsidiary
Apartment rental, furnishing and cleaning income
Programme and facilities income 
Service fee income
Facilities rental income
Dividend received from subsidiary

—
(7)

(98)
(172)

—

(967)
(188)
(120)
(167)
(539)

III. Financial instruments for which carrying amount approximates the fair value
The carrying amount of the Group’s other financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair values due to 
relatively short term nature of these financial instruments.

22. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it has adequate financial resources to 
fund its operations. The Group obtains government grants through the Ministry of Education and other government 
agencies to fund its operational and capital requirements. Expenditures are monitored through a budgetary control 
process. It also undertakes industrial projects. The Group manages its capital base in consideration of current economic 
conditions and its plan for the year in concern. The Group is not exposed to any external capital requirements.

The Group monitors capital using net assets value, which is made up of capital, accumulated surplus, and the 
Nanyang Polytechnic Education Fund. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2020.  The net assets 
value at 31 March 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
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